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CSM Finance Limited

Strategic Report
For the year to 31 December 2021

The directors present their Strategic Report for CSM Finance Lirmted for the year to 31 December 2021.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company during the year was to act as the intermediate holding company
for the CloserStill Group of companies which operate content-led exhibitions, conferences and hosted
buyer meetings throughout the LUK, continental Europe, USA and Asia,

Business review

The trading Group, which has historically been very profitable with significant annuai growth, has
continued to operate throughout 2021 despite restrictions due to Covid-19 in various jurisdictions. 2021
saw the return of physical events principally since the fourth quarter across the Group but predominantly
in the UK. Whilst the Group’s event attendance during 2021 was generally lower than previous editions,
exhibitors fed back that the audience quality was high and due to weli managed expectations along with
Covid safe environments this meant exhibitor satisfaction was high. The events that the Group delivered
in the fourth quarter demonstrated a strong rebound from Covid and delivered higher than normaf
rebook results which subsequenily has helped generate a very strong book of business going into 2022.
The results for the year are set out below:

Review of business performance & key performance Indicators

2021 202¢

Financial performance Indicators: £000 £'000

Revenue 31,3582 18,765

Gross profit 17,843 14,920

Management EBITDA* (2,532) (5,062)

Net cash generated from operating activities 18,926 2,050

Non-financial performance indicators: No. No.
Attendees at CloserStill events

- Physical 81,851 27,132

= Virtual 49,910 42,281

*Nole Management EBITDA is reconcied to Qperating Profit in note 28 10 the financial statements. Management EBITDA is a
non-GAAFP measure used to monitor the performance of the busmess and is defined as operating profit before depreciation,
amortisatron, management exceplional tams and accounting for non-cash share-based payments 10 empioyess

Government enforced Covid-19 restricions continued into 2021 in varying forms across our
geagraphies. The Group enfered 2021 cautiously constantty monitoring the landscape. Budget
intentions set in Q4 2020 anticipated that the restrictions would lift in H1 2021, however as new Covid
variants spread and further restrictions continued most H1 and Q3 events were further postposed to
2022. The management team maintained a ‘plan B' on all events and where appropriate reveried o
online delivery o maintain customer contact and deliver leads. Digital events were delivered across the
Learning and Technology sectors as well as parts of the Healthcare portfolio. Whilst these digital events
supported our served markels, as 2021 progressed the Group saw increasingly strong customer
sentiment and demand for a return back to physical face 1o face events. Spain was the first geography
to run a full physical trade event in July in Barcelona in the e-commerce sector. This was followed by a
number of hugely successful events in the UK through October and November including the occurrence
of the flagship event London Vet Show at Excel. The 2020 acquired event London Dentistry Show ran
in September at Olympia where the success of the event resulted in forward orders taken on-site for the
2022 event exceeding 200% of the fotal 2021 event orders.
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Review of business performance & key performance indicators (continued)

Generally during 2021 the Group's other geographies saw a slower return of customer sentiment as
compared to the UK and Spain however hybrid smaller events were held in Germany such as OEB, and
the US with New York Vet. All events ran positively with great feedback and whilst events sometimes
did not have the same level of overall attendance as in 2019, the quality of audience was strong.
customer feadback was extremely positive and this has resuited in a strong level of rebooked business
for 2022 events.

Results for the year ended 31 December 2021 reflect the fact that the Group saw a continuation of
Covid restrictions for the majority of the periad, and whilst quarter 4 delivered strong events, the Group
Management EBITDA position remained loss making. Costs and cash were well managed throughout
the Group, including working with suppliers to only commit costs close to the event and when the event
date was committed. The full year resuits report a loss in Management EBITDA of £2,532,000 (2020:
loss of £5,067,000).

Core to the Group's strategy is to continue to clone the UK's successful events into new geographies and
to constantly evolve existing brands, particularly by keeping pace with the dynamic nature of each of the
human and animal health and specialist technology sectors. This has continued through the pandemic in
the healthcare sector, with a number of new avents planned to be launched for the first time in 2021/2022
including BVA Live (Birmingham Vet), Future Surgery and Oncology Professional Care. In the case of
Future Surgery, this show ran at Excel in November 2021 alongside the Group's existing shows AGM
{Acute and General Medicine) and ACC (Anaesthesia and Critical Care). Future Surgery proved to be a
fantastic launch event with an attendance that exceeded expactations. Working alongside the Association
of Surgeons, the show delivered cutting edge content including the streaming of a live operation direct
from Barts Haspital ~ this was an exhibition first!

As part of our new launch strategy we have introduced virtual first concept testing, which takes a launch
proposition first through a digital event delivery in order o prove event concepts and build community
data which in turn subsequently can significantly increase the speed of a following physical launch. One
such product OPC (Oncology Professional Care) ran as an online virtual concept launch, which after
generating strong positive feedback has now been moved to a standalone annual physical event in May
2022 at Excel London. New concepts are in the pipeline for 2022 with further cfones and new boK-ons
being planned.

The ERP roll out continued in 2021 in the overseas territories and went live fully across the Group on 1
July 2021 following the UK which went live in December 2020. The Unit 4 system has significantly
reduced the complexity of running numerous financial systems across the Group and now aflows for
easier consolidation, reporting and forecasting with more efficiency across the Group finance function.

The CloserStill Group is financed by bank loans provided by Hayfin Services LLP and extended to
CloserStill Exhibitions Limited. The bank loans are subject to both financial and informational
requirements, including the requirement for the submission of quarterly compliance certificates. These
requirements have been waived through to June 2023 under the revised Senior Finance Agreement
referenced below. The Group has also received significant cash support from its majority investor
Providence Equity Partners (PEP) through the Covid-19 period via £23.5m ¢ash drawn through an Equity
Commitment Letter (ECL.} signed in 2020.

On 29 December 2021 the Group utilised $5.5m of the acquisition facility bank loan, which is subject to
interest at a rate of SONIA plus 6.15%, to fund the Influence Group acquisition. A further $5.5m funding
from PEP was received in support of the acquisition purchase.

As at the end of the year the company had £11.7m cash available, an increase of £5.2m from 31
December 2020. Operating cash generated in the 12 months period ended 31 December 2021 was
£18.9m comparing to 2020 £2 1m. This was predominately due to further cash for the CloserStill Group
sourced in the year from PEP through the ECL draw and issue of new share capital. The success of
running the Q4 shows and coliecting the debts due from exhibitors prior to running the returning events
also conftributed to the increase.



CSM Finance Limited

Strategic Report
For the year to 31 December 2021

Review of business performance & key performance indicators (continued)

Working capital movements generated a cash improvement which included an increase in deferred
income, representing the increased rolled event revenue as the shows were posiponed and elongated
sales cycle, offset by the release of deferred revenue on the events that occurred in Q4. Trade credilors
were also increased as at 31 December 2021 vs 2020 and this represents the invoices unpaid relating to
these Q4 events,

Acquisitions

The Group continued fo be acquisitive in 2021 and continues to look for investments 1o expand market
share and geographical reach of the Group's activities.

©On 30 December 2021, the Group acquired control of Influence Group, LLC through a purchase of 60%
of the equity share capital for a total consideration of £7,971,000. Influence Group runs hosted buyer
events focused on connecting buyers and sponscrs across space, design and facility construction
industries which also includes related innovation and emerging technologies. Influence Group currently
has etght events for the Restaurant, Education, Retail, Hotel, Real Estate, Workplace, Healthcare and
Senior Living sectors that typically run between March and November each year. This acquisition
expands the CloserStill Group proposition into new hosted buyer, one to one type events and also
expands the Group's US operalions.

Further information on the Group’s acquisitions has been detailed in note 22 of the financial statements.

Qutlook

Following a rewarding and hugely successful suite of events towards the end of 2021, in particular in the
. UK and Spain, management are further confident in knowing that the Group's customers, exhibitors and

delegates continue to demand as strongly as ever the type of face to face events that the Group operates.
Management took the view that Quarter 1 of 2022 may be difficult, in particular January and February,
with the increase in Omicron cases in December. Early 2022 evenis were therefore rescheduled to
Quarter 2 including the highly successful Learning Technologies event which now has a date fine of May
2022 (previously February). Frankfurt Tech also has a new date line of May following the need to
posipone the December 2021 event. All CloserStill geographies are now opening up for face to face
business and whilst there is still a concern over the volume of attendees, versus pravious cycles in some
geographies, management are confident in attracting the core C-suite Board and Senior level attendees
with purchasing power that the exhibitors long to interact with, improving the quaiity of the events and
subsequently driving growth in forward bookings.

Three significant CloserStill events have taken place in March 2022, operating in each of the UK, France
and Spain and all have delivered results in-line or in excess of budgets set. The UK Tech event ran at
Excel from 2-3 March. fnvestment was made in keynote speakers, with Sir Tim Bemers-Lee opening the
event. The event over achieved on audience delivery, achieving the total target numbers for two days of
the show on day 1. Pharmagora organised on 12-13 March 2022 in Paris and was another success with
close to a 20% increase in revenue versus the 2019 event and a 16% increase in number of exhibitors.
Finally, the Infarma event organised on 22-24 March 2022 in Madrid. This was the first event ran under
the CloserStill ownership post the acquisition in 2019 The event was well received by exhibitors and
attendees with attendance being in line with previous editions.

CloserStill prides itseif in being the best at what it does and this is demonstrated in its record of winning
industry awards, of which 4 new awards were presented to CloserStill in March 2022 at the Exhibition
News Awards evening. Awards were won in the categories of Best Event Director, Best Trade Show, Best
Operations Team and Best Brand Expansion. This demonstrates our commitment 1o our products, new
launches and importantly our staff
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Qutlook {continued)

All the events we have run since September 2021 and through to 2022 have exceeded our initial
expectations and as such reinforces our view as to the undimmed demand for, and sustainability of,
leading face to face events of the type that CloserStill operates. The Group went into the new year with
an order book for 2022 that was c16% in excess of the like for like point in the pre-Covid 2019/2020 cycle.
This is due not anly ta the strength of postponed events where customers have maintained their bocking
through to the postponed fulure event, but alse due to very strong en-site rebooking for 2022 events after
running successful 2021 editions, for which we have seen in total forward bookings that have been ahead
of previous cycles by ¢10%.

We believe the Group runs the #1 events in our markets with predominantly domestic audiences and so
are less impacted by travel restrictions and therefore management fully expect all events to run in 2022
in the belief that the geographies continue 1o remain open. Management have set 2022 budgets with
strong top-line growth retative to the Covid disruption the Group has faced, whilst continuing to ensure we
invest sufficiently in our post-Covid event delivery to best secure strong stakeholder satisfaction as well
as invest in our conlent and audience delivery capabilities to ensure short and medium term organic
growth. In addition, the Group continues to invest in structural improvements to our infrastructure in order
10 create better capability and capacity to execute upon our future in-organic and launch growth agenda.

The Group enters 2022 with the vast majorily of its individual event clusters expecting to grow in size
compared to the pre-Covid position which management considers hugely encouraging. This growth
expectation is supported by the feedback on Q4 2021 and Q1 2022 events, the growth in order book
compared to previous cycles and the recent sales trends in which we have seen several record sales
weeks for the Group being recorded

Results and dividends

The total comprehensive loss attributable to the owners of the Group after taxation and minarity interests
for the financial year was £70.9m (2020. £53.8m, restated), due to an excess of administrative expenses
over revenue, and interest payable over operating profit arising from its highly leveraged capital structure,
which is not uncommon for private equity backed businesses. The directors do not recommend a dividend.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Covid-19 has posed a significant challenge to the risk management and resilience of the business around
the globe. As detailed above management have respended well over the previous two years to maintain
cashflow and mitigate further risk and have assessed the business as a going concern. Management are
aware that a future pandemic may further disrupt the business but, as has been demonstrated over the
recent period, CloserStill has proved to be in resilient markets and as a business is agile in its ability to
move into digital markets and manage its cost base as needed.

Management take an approach to identify, log, assess and monitor identified risks and actions are taken
where appropriate, The Board is ultimately responsibte for aligning the risk appetite of the Group with the
long term strategic plans of the Group The relevant leadership teams and local management are
responsible for highlighting emerging risks through market changes and local political changes which may
impact the Group. These are reported to Group management on a monthly basis which can then be
reviewed.

Financial risks

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank loans and loan As the Group expands further
overseas exchange rate fluctuations are likely to have a larger impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Further details are included in Directors’ report (pages 10-12)

-5.



CSM Finance Limited

Strategic Report
For the year to 31 December 2021

Environment

CloserStill Group is committed to promoting sustainable corporate business practices, both within our
offices and at our events. We encourage all individual businesses within the Group to take steps to
consider and improve their impact as a whole, under a framework of ‘People, Profit and the Planet’. This
includes considering the impacts refating to customers, employees, suppliers and our investors in how
we manage qur events. Our work in this area 1s evolving as we re-establish live events following the
disruption caused by the pandemic.

Within the Offices

The return ta working from the offices has been managed in a Covid-safe environment and this has
meant more cleaning of the premises throughout the day. The cleaning companies engaged by the
Group use envirphmentally friendly cleaning products to minimise the impact of this additional cleaning.

Employees are asked ta recycle waste throughout the Group's offices. We are locking at energy saving
efficiencies and have recently installed Smart meters in the London office.

The Group uses online meeting tools to keep travel to a minimum and employees are encouraged to
use public trangport where passible, when travelling to and from the office.

We have implemented printer controls to minimise unnecessary paper usage.

During the period of remote working, we have implemented an employee well-being programme and
have introduced an Employee Assistance Programme to help employees who may be having difficulties
at this time. We have trained Mental Health first aiders amongst the staff.

The Group offers employees cycle W0 work schemes to encourage fitness and reduce local commuting,
with showers gvailable in the offices for those that choose to cycle to work.

Within our Events

The Events Industry has been working together to lry lo reduce the long-term environmental impact of
running live events. This includes designing exhibitions stands with components that can be reused, re-
using ar re-Cycling carpet, encouraging visitors o use public transport and minimising the food wastage
from over ordering. The majority of marketing is now in digital rather than printed form,

We aim to work with all our stakeholders to continue this progress.

Suppliers

Key Suppliers include the show venues and specifically the NEC and Excel in the UK, Javits Centre
and MGM Resorts in the USA amxl Marina Bay Sands in Singapore.

These venues hava strong sustainability values with examples ncluding-

s Zero waste 1o landfill with an average recycle rate of 80%.

+ Waste not travelling further than 30 miles from site

» Energy efficient HYAC, lighting and escalators.

» Reduced water consumption through automated taps and rainwater collection

+ Food waste used for onsite wormery.

« Green planted solar roof at Javits. to generate power, absorb rainwater and reduce heat build-up.
The Group’s supplier selection pracess includes reviewing a prospective supphier’s sustainabibty policy
as pan of a tender process before awarding any confracts. Key contractors for building the events
include Freeman (US) and Global Experience Specialists Ltd {UK). Freeman has APEX/ASTM Level 2
Centification {the standard recognises companies that are helping customers execute sustainable
events that not only meet but exceed event industry standards). Global Experience Specialists Lid is
the first global full-service events provider to earn bath APEX/ASTM Level 2 Certification in the US and
ISO 20121 in the UK,

-6-
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Environment (continued)

Across the Group local suppliers are engaged to support the local economy of each event. Local staff
and temporary staff are used to support overseas events limiting the level of long haul, or even short
hauli, travel.

Event supplies where possible are recycled or reused. In Singapore all aisle carpet is recycled, and in
the UK the carpet once used is made into other plastic products rather than going to landfill. Shell
scheme ig the preferred product in most booths which is then reused for other events. Fumniture and
features are ali reusable Exhibitor manuals are all online and orders are paperiess, catalogues for
delegates are also available online to encourage a lower pnint requirement.

Where catering is provided for visitors and delegates, we work with the venues to communicate
expected attendance numbers 0 as to limit over ordering and thus wastage.

Customers

Where possible we encourage exhibitors to take shell scheme stands or purpose-built stands with re-
useable components and we are working with the stand builders to offer a wider range of ‘tumkey’
options.

For those customers who do choose 'freebuild’ stands, we work with thair contractors to snsure as much
of the stand can be recycled as possible.

Fumiture and electrical fittings on the stands provided by the official contractor are re-useabie.
Employees

Following employee initiatives. specific events include their own Green policies, for example, The
London Vet Show replaced plastic water cups with reusable and recyclable water bottles on water
coolers; one-use carpet and left over pens and food are all donated to charity; there is a recycling point
for delegates to drop off any recyclable papers and literature; food that cannot be donated to charity is
passed to the Excel wormery; encourages exhibitors to be sustainable through running competitions for
best use of recycled show coflateral.

Build Back Befter

CiloserStill is putting in place a medium-term sustainability plan with measurable targets and will report
against these targets in future.

Streamiined Energy and Carbon Reparting (SECR)

The Company is exempt from the SECR disclosure regime as a low energy user. The Group is not
required to present SECR disclosures as all subsidiary companies are individually small. The Group

intends to keep this matter under review and will consider voluntarily adopting disclosures, should the
size/energy use thresholds not be met in future years.
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Directors’ Duties — Compliance with 8.172 of the Compantes Act 2006

Section 172 of the Companies Act 2008 ("s.172"} requires directors to promote the success of the
Company for the benefit of the members as a whole and in doing o have regard to the interest of the
stakeholders including custamers, employees, suppliers and the wider community in which it aperates.
The Board is focused on its responsibilities under s.172 and the impact of the business on key
stakeholder groups is considered on a regular basis. The below table identifies where in the Annual
Report information on faclors the Board believe demonstrate its compliance with section 17(1)(a)-(f) are

set out in more detail.

[ The Board has had regard to the following
matters:

More information:

[ (=) Long-term resuits
-the likely consequences of any decision in the
long term

Strategic Report:

Principal aclivity and business review, Page 2
Review of business performance & key
performance indicators, Page 2

Acquisitions, Page 4

Results and dividends, Page §

Directors’ Report:
Financial risk management, Page 10

(b} Our workforce
-the interest of the Company’s employees

Directors’ Report:
Statement of engagement with employees,
Page 12

(c) Our business relationshipe

-the importance of developing the Company's
business relationships with suppliers, customers
and cthers

Directors’ Report:

Statement of engagement with suppliers,
customers and others in a business relationship
with the company, Page 13

{d) The community and environment
- the impact of the Company’s operations on the
community and the environment

Strategic Report:
Environment, Page &

{e) The company's reputation
- the desire to maintain a reputation for high
standards of business conduct

Directors’ Report:
CloserStill's reputation in the Industry, Page 13

{f) Fairness between Shareholders
-the aim to act fairfly between members of the

Company

Directors’ Report:

Statement of engagement with suppliers,
customers and others in a business relationship
with the company, Page 13

Signed on behalf of the board by

owhill

G G T Bowhill
Director

Approved by the board on 18 May 2022
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The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of CSM Finance
Limited for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The company was incorporated on 29 November 2018,

Directors

The following directors who were in office during the year and up to the date of the signing of the financial
statements were:

G G T Bowhill
S Kmic

A Mishenin

P W Soar

Future developments

The Group's Strategic Report (which is incorporated into this report by cross reference) sets out the
major events for the year to 31 December 2021, including the impact of COVID-19. Enquiries and
bookings for future editions of existing and new events are being taken, and these have increased
significantly since the end of January 2022 with record Group sales being delivered through February
ahead of the UK Tech event. As at March 2022 bookings versus budget are ahead of prior cycle as a
percentage of total by 1% on H1 events and 6.7% ahead on H2 events on a like for like basis.

Directors' indemnities

As permitted by the Articles of Association, the Directors have the benefit of an indemnity which is a
qualifying third party indemnity pravision as defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006. The
indemnity was in force throughout the current year and through 1o the date of approval of the financial
statements. A fellow Group company also purchased and maintained throughout the financial year
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance in respect of the Company and its Directors.

Strategic report

The Group has choseén, in accordance with section 414C(11) of the Companies Act 2006 (amended),
(Strategic Report and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013, 10 set out in the Group's Strategic Report
the following information required by schedule 7 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups
(Accounts and Reporis) Regulations 2008: financial instruments and miscelianeous.

Going concem

At 31 December 2021, the Group's financing arrangements consist of a £110m term loan (2020:
£110m), 2 £35m (2020: £35m) CAPEX facility of which £25.7m (2020: £17.1m) had been drawn down,
a £5m (2020: £5m) revolving credit facility. During the year, a draw down of the CAPEX facility was
undertaken for $5.5m on 29 December 2021 to fund 50% of the acquisition of Influence Group, LLC.
The remaining 50% was funded by PEP through a further issue of preference shares £17.5m was
drawn from PEP in the year (2020: £6m) through preference share issues against the Equity
Commitment Letter (“ECL") £32m facility which was put in place as part of the revised SFA agreement
with Hayfin. No further funding from PEP is expected in 2022.

The Group is ordinarily highly cash generative but due to Covid-19 related restrictions for most of 2020
and 2021, generation of cash was significantly reduced. The Group has net current liabilities of £55.7m
{2020: £38.8m) and made a loss before tax of £70.1m (2020: £54.4m, restated) due to the impact of the
excess of administralive expenses over revenue, and non-cash charges, which in 2021 includes an
impairment charge of £21.8m (2020: £NIil} against the Healthcare & Medical, Vet and Technology
goodwill. This arose from revised growth forecasts, post-Covid, and updated discount rates. Other
non-cash charges include amortisalion of goodwill and intangible assets.

.9
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Golng concern {continued)

The Group has prepared for 2022 with a budget that shows good like-for-like revenue growth versus the
2019 pre-Covid-19 pandemic period. In addition, managermnent has also prepared a sensitised downside
scenario. Management believe that all events will run in 2022 in some form due fo the easing of Covid-
19 restrictions, however management can plausibly envisage a scenaric where revenues are lower than
current expectations rue to the timing of returning to full confidence for all regions. As such the downside
scenario reflects a significant reduction in revenue across some of the H1 smaller events and also a
general reduction across H2 events where bookings are still to be secured. In reality, H2 bookings are
ahead of expectations (and ahead of previous cycles on a like for like basis) and thereforg whilst it is
plausible that sales may reduce, management do not believe a materialty significant reduction is likely.
Some direct cost savings have been assumed against the reduced revenue, however an allowance for
sunk costs and continued invesiment has been maintained given that, in reality, management would not
wish to cut costs to the detriment of any future event. Management are confident that continued careful
cash management under the budgeted scenario will require no further funding from PEP. This is the
same case under the downside scenario as management have again assumed that they can work with
suppliers to support a level of cash management and maintain minimal liquidity levels as required under
the current SFA, #, however, this were not possible there remains an available £8 5m in funding under
the ECL commitment that has been received from PEP. Management therefore do not believe there is
likely to be a liquidity shortfall in 2022.

The Whilst the Group has proven it can run events in 2021 and 2022 globaily the Directors were aware in
2021 that the situation could change, and this could have a significant impact an the liquidity and covenant
projections. For this reason, management again worked closely with PEP and Hayfin, to agree a further
amendment to the SFA, which ensures the Group, under a ne event scenario through to the end of March
2023, has sufficient liquidity and remains within banking covenants.

The agreement provides for a waiver on covenant submissions through to March 2023 with the first
covenant test under the original 2018 SFA being due in June 2023. All liquidity tesis and additional
information agreed in the temporary amended SFA will continue.

A Bridge Liquidity arrangernent was executed on 2 July 2020 through a PEP Equity Commitment Letter
{with an availability of funds of no less than £32m) for generat corporate and working capital purposes of
the Group to ensure it maintains a minimum liquidity of £56m within the Group at each month end. The
Bridge Liquidity arrangement remains in place for an open ended period, to ensure there will be no liquidity
issues for the foreseeable future, until such point that the Group can maintain liquidity to £5m and achieve
covenants with a leverage of 5x using EBITDA as calculated under normal accounting rules. The Bridge
Liquidity arrangement is also guaranteed by Citibank Europe PLC. As at 31 December 2021 the Group
had drawn £23.5m. There remains a further £8.5m available to draw under the guaranteed facility.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Group therefore continues
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.

Events after the balance sheet date

There were no events after the balance sheet date.

Dividends

During the year o 31 December 2021, dividends paid were £Nil (2020: £ Nil).

Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to various financial risks from its underlying operations and finance activities. These

include liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, and credit risk, The Group manages these
risks in accordance with the policies set out below.

-10-
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Financial risk management (continued)

The Group's financial instruments comprise cash, borrowings, receivables and payables that are used 10
finance the Group's operations. The Group goes not trade in financial instruments.

The objective of financial risk management is to limit exposures to the various type of financial risks
mentioned above in order to minimise any negative impact on the Graup’s results and financial position.

The Board takes a proactive approach to risk management with the objeclive of protecting its employees
and customers and safeguarding the inlerests of the Group, its shareholders, employees, clients,
consumers and all other staksholders.

i. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will experience difficulties to meet obligations associated with ils
financial liabilities that are settied by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group finances Its
operations through cash generated by the business and borrowings (iL.e. bank Yoans). The Group
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements at all times, In light of COVID-19
and the risks 1o liquidity, a Bridge Liquidity arrangement is also in place through a PEP Equity Commitment
Letter (with an availability of funds of no less than £32.0m).

ji. Foreign cumency risk

Foreign currency nisk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash fliows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group operates on a worldwide basis and,
as a result, is exposed {o movements in foreign currency exchange rates of mainly GBP, EUR, USD,
HKD, and SGD on sales and purchases.

The majority of all trade related billings and payments as weli as all payments of interest-bearing liabilities
are made in the respective functional currencies of the Group entities.

The impact on the profit or loss is mainly a result of the foreign exchange gains or losses arising from
translation of trade receivables, trade payables and cash and cash equivalents in foreign currencies.
Significant fluctuations of foreign currency exchange rates may impact other comprehensive income,
mainly due to translation of foreign subsidiaries.

fii. Interest rate nsk

Interest rate risk arises from movements in interest rates which could have an impact on the Group's net
income or financial position. Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure to
interest rate rigk relates primarily to the Group's bank loans The Group does not use derivative financial
insiruments to hedge its interest rate risk in respect of ioans. The Board are continuously monitoring any
changes to interest rates and woutd propose new strategies accordingly in order to minimise the impact
on tha Group's financial position.

iv. Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that the counterparty fo a transaction may be unable or unwilling to
meet its obligations, causing a financial loss to the Group. Credit risk arises mainly from the Group’s trade
receivables. Trade receivables are subject 1o a policy of active risk management which focuses on the
assessment of credit availability, ongoing credit evaluation, and account monitoring procedures. There
are no significant concentrations of credit risk due to the Group's large number of customers and their
wide geographical spread. The impact of COVID-19 has not impacted credit risk for customers and the
business has continued to collect stand and sponsorship sales in advance of physical events in line with
previous cycles. Covid-19 has had some impact for new suppliers espacially in the USA in terms of
extending credit to CloserStil, however this has been minimal and is not seen as a significant cashflow
risk.
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Financial risk management (continued)

Post Covid and since the Ukraine war there has been a wider economic change in terms of inflationary
rises which are well documented. CloserStill has a close network of key suppliers and continues to work
closely with them lo manage cost pressures around the Group. CloserStill structures sales prices in order
to encourage advance bookings, this also allows a level of price increases though the year to maximize
margins.

With regasds to Ukraine and Russia, CloserStill has no events in these geographies and very few
customers are Russian, therefore no risk is foreseen.

Group tax policy

The Group acts in compliance with the relevant local and international laws and disclosure requirements
and conducts an open and transparent relationship with the refevant tax autherities. In an increasingly
compiex international corporate tax environment, there is a degree of tax risk and uncertainty, Tax risk
can arise from differences in interpretation of regulations, but most significantly where governments apply
diverging standards in assessing intragroup cross border transactions. This is the situation for many
multinational organisations. The Group manages and controls these risks in a proactive manner and, in
doing so, exercises judgement and seeks appropriate advice from relevant professional firms.

Statement of engagement with employees

The CloserStill Group is committed ta providing a great place to work for our people in which to develop
a rewarding and fulfilling career. The focus on our people has never been greater, and we consider our
people, and the way we organise, train, engage and motivate them, as a critical competitive advantage.
In February 2020, the CloserStill Group featured in the Sunday Times 100 Best Companies to work for’
. list for the third year running, We hope to continue to receive such achievements in the future now the
business is operating physical events, post Covid, which engages team ethos and CloserStill spirit.

The CloserStill Group aims to focus on employee engagement. We have worked hard to communicate
openly and regularly with our employees as we recognise effective communication is a key part of building
stronger levels of employee engagement. We share business news, successes and updates with
employees frequently and invite feedback from our people as we know that how our people feel and how
they are engaged ultimately drives business performance. We believe in transparency with our
employees, so we send round weekly reporting on sales numbers and delegate registrations/revenue to
all our teams.

We regularly engage with our teams through quarterly company meetings where we update on
performance, introduce new starters, announce promotions, etc. We run annual awards for best sales,
best operations, best finance, bast marketing and best team where we acknowledge excellence in their
fields which are announced at our Christmas parly. As we continue to grow and develop the business, we
are always interested in speaking to talented and passionate people who want to build a career in events.
We run active graduate schemes in London, Singapare, New York and Germany and are also interested
in hearing from experienced event professionals wanting to join our winning team.

Diversity and an employee base that brings different perspectlives, backgrounds and ways of thinking is
very important fo our business. Fair consideration is given to all applications, including from those with
disabitities. We make all reasonable efforts to be able to continue to employ those who become disabled
during employment. Appropriate training is arranged for disabled persons, including retraining for
alternative work of employees whe become disabled, to promote their career development within the
Group.

Many of CloserStil's employees are also shareholders and are therefore engaged in the future
development of the business. The Board prides itself in the support and flexibility of the workforce to adapt
and deliver events that are best in their category, as evidenced by the number of industry awards won by
CloserStill events and employees.
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CloserStil’s reputation in the industry

In the last 12 years, CloserStill has been repeatedly recognised as a leading innovator within the
Exhibition Industry and has, we believe, won more awards than any other event business in the ind ustry
We have won over 50 major industry awards, including the coveted ‘Best Business Exhibition” seven
times, featured in The Sunday Times 100 Best Places to Work three times (2018, 2019 & 2020) and have
been voted by members of the Association of Exhibition Organisers as the ‘Most Respected Company’ in
the exhibition Industry. The awards are down to the people and teams that work together to deliver the
events ensuring customer service and satisfaction. The accolades include: Best Trade Show (x7), Best
Marketing (x9), Best Operations (x4), Best Sales (x5), Best Event Director (x4) and Best Launch or Brand
Extension (x6). Adapting to digital during 2020, we have also won 4 awards at the new Digital Event
Awards.

CloserStill looks to run, launch or acquire the number one event in the sector and geography that it
operates in. We review our products, events and customer service on an ongoing basis with post event
surveys and content reviews ensuring we provide the mosl appropriate content for the audience and the
best possible networking ability for delegates and exhibitors.

Statement of engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship with
the company

The CloserStill Group aims to deliver the best possible value for all our customers and stakeholders and
defiver great experiences for everyone involved in our events.

Modem Day Slavery Act Statement

CloserStill Group Lid is an inlernational trade show, conference and events organiser, with operations in
United Kingdom, USA, France, Germany, Spain and Singapore. Modern slavery is a crime and a
viotation of fundamental human rights. We are commitied to acting ethically and with integrity in all our
business dealings and relationships.

CloserStill Group operates in many different countries, and there is a zero-tolerance approach to slavery
or human trafficking. The principles of The Universal Declaration of Human Righis and the Intemational
Labour Organisation’s Declaration on Fundamental Principies and Rights at Work are supported by the
CioserStill Group. both locally and internationally.

CloserStilt Group is committed to ensuring that there is no modem slavery or human trafficking in our
supply chains or in any part of cur business. In all global localions where we run our events we ensure
we comply with the local laws and regulations. We realise that this is an ongoing and evolving obligation,
and we need to update our processes with regard to ongoing risk assessments in each global territory
that we operate in.

Risk Assessment and management

The company is not involved in manufacturing and has strict employment policies and therefore we
believe there is low risk of non-compliance amongst our direct empioyees Our overall assessment is
that the CloserStill Group has little risk related to fts primary tier suppliers and customers. A key focus
of the Group in the forthcoming period is to accelerale a program of implementing enhanced policies
and training management and staff in undertaking relevant risk assessments and recognising situations
where modern day slavery may be a concern.

This statement is in accordance with section (54)1 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and constitutes

CloserStill Group's slavery and human trafficking statement for the financial year ending 31 December
2021,
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Statement of engagement with suppliers, customers and others in a business relationship with
the company (continued)

Organisational Structure

The Board of Directors headed by the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are based in the UK. As
a 31 December 2021 there were 330 employees consisting of sales, marketing, operations and
adminisbation staff, based in the following countries: United Kingdom 210, Germany 28, Spain 19, France
1, Singapore 20, Hong Kong 1 and USA 51.

Suppliers

The company organises trade shows and conferences in Healthcare and Technology market sectors. Qur
major suppliers are the venues where the evenis are held, the contractors who build exhibition stands,
supply furniture, carpets, logistics and data registration services. Our major suppliers all have their own
procedures and policies with regard to anti-slavery and anti-rafficking and we will continue to work with
them to identify areas of risk further atong the supply chain, We recognise that due diligence procedures
with smaller suppliers needs to be enhanced.

Customers

Our customers range from large pharmaceutical manufacturers to suppliers of kit for data centres and
operators of care homes. Whilst we consider that our customer base is of generally very low risk, we
undertake a review of our processes o ensure we identify where customers originate from areas of risk
and enhancing our due diligence process to mitigate this risk. Our terms and conditions of business are
under review with the aim of incorporating the expectation thal people we work with should adhere to the
same standards we set ourseives.

Shareholders

Providence Equity Partners are majority shareholders with a 85% controlling stake in the CloserStill
Group Management and employees hoid the remaining 35%. The Board meets monthly to discuss the
trade and operation of the Group with key strategy and decisions being discussed and agreed as part of
these meetings. All acquisition considerations and Jonger-term plans are set out and approved with the
support of Providence. The Board communicates to the employee sharehclders quartarly at Group
employee update meetings. The company also ensures a cascade of information where appropriate.

Debt capital / credit faciiify providers

The Group Chief Financial Officer and Group Financial Director are responsible for managing the
relationships with our banks and for the Group's cash / debt management and financing activities. Regular
reports are made fo the board on these activities including the Group's plans 10 ensure appropriate access
to debt capital, monitoring the headroom and maturity schedules of primary credit facilities.

Monthly financial information is shared with the banks on profitability and cashflow following the monthly
Board Meetings. Quarterly review meetings also take place to ensure the banks are kept informed of
trading and forecast axpectations. A higher level of reporiing during the Covid-19 outbreak was in place,
as detailed in the going concern section of the Directors’ report.

HR Policres
The company has strict HR policies and procedures, which include identity verification and right to work
checks. The company ensures that employees are paid fairly for their role with a competitive remuneration

package. We undertake reqular review and updates of our specific policies related to maintaining a high
standard of employee conduct and a whistleblowing policy.
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financidl statements for each financial year. Under that
law the directors have prepared the Group and company financial statements in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice {(United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising
FRS 102 "The Financiai Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Repubiic of Ireland”, and
applicable law). Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and company and of
the prafit or loss of the Group and company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the
directors are required to:

« gelect suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistentty;

= state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102, have
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements;

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

* prepare the financial statements an the going concern basis unless it Is inappropriate to
presume that the Group and company will continue in business.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and company and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other iregularities.

The direclore are responsible for keaping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group and company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006.

Directors' confirmations

1n the case of each director In office at the date the Directors’ Report is approved:
* sp far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group and
company’s auditors are unaware; and

« they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a direclor in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group and
company's auditors are aware of that information.

Independent Auditors

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLFP have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a
resolution concerning their re-appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Signed on behalf of the board by

% ow"b'l"

G G T Bowhill
Qirector

Approved by the board on 18 May 2022
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Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, CSM Finance Limited’s group financlal statements and company financiai statements {the “financial statements™:

+ give a irue and faic view of the state of the group's and of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of the group's loss
ad U group's cash fows Tur Lhe year llen ended,

+ have been propery prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financlal Reporting Standard appixcatle o the UK and Republic of trefand™,
and applicable law); and

» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Wa have audiled the financial statements, included within the Anrual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements {the “Annual
Report”), which comprise: the Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets as at 31 December 2021, the Consolidated Income
Statament, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income. the Consalidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Company
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Statemant of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial
statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted owr audit in accordance with Intemational Standards an Audibing (UK) {"ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under 1ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibiities for the audit of the financial statements section
of our report We believe thal the audit evidence we have obtained s sufficeent and appropniate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group In accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance

with these requirements

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any materal uncertainties releting to events or conditions that,
individually or codectively may cast significant doubl on the group’s and the company’s abllity 1o continue as a going congern for a
period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue

In audiling the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate

However. because not at fulure avants or conditions can be predicted, this conclusiorn is not a guarantee as to the group's and the
company’s ability to contnue as a going concern

Our responsibilties and the responsibilibes of the directors with respect 1o going concem are described in the relevant sactions of
this report

Reporting on other information

The ather information comgprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon The directors are responsible for the other information  Our opmion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or. except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this
report, any form of assurance thereon.

in connection with our audit of the financial statements. our responsibiity (s to read the other information and. in doing so, consider
whether the other information is matenally inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears 10 be materially misstated (f we wentify an apparent malerial inconsistency or malerial misstatement, we are
required to perform procedures to conciude whather there & a matenal misstatement of the financial statements or 2 material
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misstatement of the other information If. based on the work we have performed, we conclude that therse is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that faci We have nolhing Lo report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK C ompanies
Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report cerlain opinions and
malters as described below .

Strategic report and Directors' Report

In our apinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit. the information given in the Strategic report and Directors'
Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 is consistent with the financial siatemenls and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal reqrurements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and thes environmant cblained in the course of the audil, we
did not identify any mater:al misstatements in the Stralegic report and Directors’ Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of direclors' responsibdibes in respect of the financial statements, the direclars are
responsibie for the preparation of the financal statements in accordance wiih the applicabie framework anc for being satished that
they give a true and fair view. The direciors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from matenal misstatement. whether due to fraud or error.

tn preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing. as applicable, matters refated to going concem and using the going concern basis ¢f accounting
unless the direclors either intend to kquidate the group or the company of to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement. whether due to fraud or error, and io issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance. but 18 not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or emor and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they couki reasonably be expected to influence the economit dec'sions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements

Irregularities, \ncluding fraud are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities. outlined above. o detect material misstatements in respect of rregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting sregularities, including fraud. s detaiied below

Based on our understanding of the group and induslry, we identified that the principal nsks of non-compliance with laws and
regulations related to data protection and employment tegisiation. and we considered the exient to which non-compliance might have
a material effect on the fimancial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial
slatements such as taxation and the Companies Acl 2006. We evaiuated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudgident
manipulation of the financia: statements (inciuding the risk of ovemride of controls) and determined that the principal risks were related
1o the posting of unusual journals to revenue or the manipulation of accountng estimates which could be subject to management
bias. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included

« Enquiring of managemenl, and those charged with governance. as to whether the entity ia in compliance with such laws and
regulations.

« Obtaining an understanding of the control environment in monitoring compliance with laws and regulations;

+ Reviewing legal expense acctunts and board mnutes,
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s Responding ta the risk of management override of controls through a combination of substantive testing of journal entries,
incorporating elements of unpredictability into the nature, timing and extent of planned audit procedures. and lesting of accounting
estimates and judgements which could be subject to managament bias; and

s Reviewing financial statement disclosures and tested to supporting documenlation to assess comp:anca with applicable laws
and regulations.

There are inberent limitations In the audit procedures described above. We are less tkely to become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulatinns that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements
Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error.
as fraud may involve deliberale concealment by for example, forgery or intenlional misrepresentations, or through colusion

A further description of our responsibilites for the audit of the financial statements 15 located on the FRC's website at:
www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities This description forms part of our auditors’ report,

Use of this report

This repon, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members &s a body in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opimions _ accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or Lo any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save wheare expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

« we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit: or

» adequale accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adeguate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

» cerain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or

+ the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retums.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

(I N

Steven Kentish (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Ermingham

19 May 2022
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For the year to For the year to 31
31 Decomber  December 2020
2021 (restated*)
Note £'000 £'000
Revenue 3 31,362 18,765
Cost of sales (13,509) (3,845)
Gross profit 17,843 14,920
Administrative expenses {79,298) (60,597)
Operating loss 4 {61,456) (45,677)
Management EBITDA 28 {2,532) (5,062)
Amortisation 11 (33,323) (32,246)
Depreciation 12 (679) {751)
Exceptional items 5 (23,137) (5210)
Management exceptional items (780) (1.041)
Foreign exchange (16) {422)
Share based payments 6 {988) *(945)
Interest receivable and similar income 8 - 6
Interesi payable and similar expenses 9 (8,683) (8,688)
Loss before taxation {70,138) (54,359)
Tax on loss 10 {1,430) (280)
_Loss for the financial year (71.568) {54.639)
Loss for the fingncial year attributable to:
Owners of Parent (71,115) {53,952)
Non-controlling interest (453) (687)
_Loss for the financlal year (71,568} {64,639)

* see Note 2

There are no material discontinued operations durmg the year.

The notes on pages 25 ta 57 form part of these financial statements.

The Company has taken advantage of $408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish its own Statement

of Comprehensive Income.
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For the yearto For the yearto 31

31 December December 2020

201 (restated™)

£000 £000

Loss for the financial year (71 568 (54.639)

Other comprehensive income for the year

Currency translation gains in foreign operations 1,316 182

Total comprehensive expense for the year {70,252) (54,45T)
Total comprehensive expense for the financial year attributable to:

Owners of the Parent {69,799) (53,770}

Non-controfling interests (453) (687)

(70,252) (54,457)

*see Note 2

The notes on pages 25 to 57 form part of these financial statements.
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2021 2020
Group
Group Company  (resiated*) Company
Note £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Fixed assots
Intangible assets 1 182,824 185,482 -
Goodwill 1 100,201 - 136,437 -
Negative goodwill 11 (1.537) (1.797) -
Tangible assets 12 895 - 1,071 -
Investments 13 - 192 235 - 192.235
282,383 192,235 321,203 192,235
Current assets
Debtors 14 30,210 - 27,454 -
Cash at bank and in hand 15 11,706 - 6,466 -
41,915 33,920 -
Creditors: amounts falling due
within one year 16 (97,671) - (72,731) -
Net current liabilities (55.656) - (38,811) -
Total assets less current liabilities 226,727 192,235 282,392 192,235
Creditors: amounts falling due
after more than one year 17 {142,415) - {132,339) -
Provisions for liabilities 19 (44,089) . {36,098) -
Net aggets 40,223 192,235 113,855 182,235
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 20 1.922 1.922 1,922 1,922
Share premium account 21 190.313 190,313 190,313 190,313
Translation reserve 21 981 - (335) -
_Accurmulaled losses 21 {159,033} - {81.17Q) -
Total equity attributabile to
owners of the parent 34,183 192,235 110,730 192,235
_Non-controlling interests 5.040 - 3226 -
Total Equity 40,223 192,235 113,955 192,235
*See note 2

The company had no revenue or costs for the year to 31 December 2021 (2020: Nit}.

The financial statements on pages 19 to 57 were approved by the board of directors and authorised for

iSsue on 18 May 2022, and are signed on behalf of the board by:

% P |

G G T Bowhiil

Director

Registration no- 11703817

The notes on pages 25 to 57 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Caited up Share  Translation Accumulated Total Non- Total Equity
Share  Premium reserve losses  attributableta  controNing £0H0
capital  Account £000 E000  owners of the Interest
£000 E£0o0 parant £000
£o00

As At 1 January 2020 1922 190112 {57 {23.8682) 167,858 3912 171,768
Prior year adiustmenits (note 2) - - {6.603) (8,803) - (6,803)
As at 1 January 2020 {rastated) 1922 180212 517 (30.465) 161,253 392 165,18%
Loss for the year as previously stated - - {50,672) {%0,672) (887 {81,259
Prior year adjustments (note 2} - - (3.280) {3,280) - {3,280)
Loas for the yesr {restated) - - (53 952) 153,952} (887} (84,839}
(rher comprehensive income 192 - 182 - 182
Total comprahensive
incomed{expensa) - : 182 {82,652) [53,770) {887} (84 457
Crodit related to Share based payments 045 945 - 945
Revatuation of pul/call option
redemiplion ksbiltics {rastaied) - - 2.302 2,302 - 2,302
Total for transactions with owners.
{restated) - - 247 2,247 - 3,247
As at 31 Dacembar 2020 1822 190,313 (335) (81,170) 110,730 3,225 113,958
and 1 January 2021 (restated)
Loss for the year - Ny {71 .115) 463) {71,388)
Other comprahiansive income 136 1,316 1,318
Total comprehensive
income/[expense) - 1,316 [M,115) [69,799) {483) {70,252)
Credit relatad lo Share based paymenlts £ s - g8
Buyoul of Non-controlling interest [t (881) {530) 1.411)
Non-conlrolling interest arising on
businsss combination 3.708 3,798
Revaluation of puticall option
redempiion habilty (6 B55) (8, 855) {8,855)
Total for transactions with ownasrs - -~ (8,748) {6,748) 3,283 ]3,480!
Balance st 31 Dacember 2021 1,922 190,313 »a1 {189,033) 34,183 8,040 40,223

The notes on pages 25 ta 57 form part of these financal statements.
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year to 31 December 2021

Callad up

capital
£000

Share  Accumulated
Premium losses
Account £000

£'000

Total
£000

Non-
controlling
Intereat
£900

Total Equity
£000

As at 1 January 2020 1.922
I3sue of share capilal
Credit related to share based payments

190 313

192,238

192,238

Total for transactions with
owners

Comprahansive incoms
Result for ihe yoar
Other comprehanaive income:

1,922

196,313

192,04

192,238

Total comprahensive Income

As at 31 December 2020 1,022
{szue of share capilal .

Cradit retated 1o Share based
paymanta

190,313

192,235

192,38

Tokal for transsctions with
owners

Comprehensive income
Rasult for the yem
Other comprahenslve income

Total comprehensive income

Balanics at 31 December 2021 1,922

190,313

192,238

192,238

The notes on pages 25 to 57 form part of these financial statements.
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Fortheyearto 31  For the yearto
December 31 December

2020
2021 {restated*)
Note £'000 £'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the financial year (71,568) (54.639)
Adjustment for:
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 12 679 751
Amaortisation of intangible fixed assets 11 33,323 32,246
Impairment and disposal of intangible fixed assets 11 21,846 -
Foreign exchange 16 523
Equity share based payment expense 6 958 945
Interest receivable 8 - {6)
Interest and similar charges payable 9 § 683 8,668
Taxation 10 1,430 280
Adjusted operating loss before changes in working {4,603) {11,212)
capital ot
Increase in trade and other receivables 863 (6,240)
Woarking capital injection - " 6,000
_Increase in trade and other payables 23101 13,502 .
Cash generated from operations 19,361 2,050
Tax paid (435) _ -
Net cash generated from operating activities 18,526 2,050
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries 22 (6.728) (12,045)
Purchase of tangible fixed assets 12 (394) {160)
Purchase of intangible fixed assets 11 {1,919) {865)
interest recelved 8 - 6
Net cash used in investing activities (8,041) (13,064)
cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from new borrowing 16,17 4,077 17,123
Interest and similar expenses paid (8,034) (7.491)
_Buyout of non-controliing interests 25 (705) -
Net cash {used in)/generated from financing activities (4.662) 9,632
Net increasel/(dacrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,223 {1,382)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,87% 3,253
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents (272} -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6,822 1,871
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash at bank and in hand 11,705 6,466
Bank overdrafts (4,883) (4,595)
Cash and cash equivalents 6,822 1,87t

* See Note 2
The Company is a qualifying enfity for the purposes of FRS 102 and has elected to take exemption under
FRS 102, para 1.12 (b} not to present the Company Statement of Cash Flows

The notes on pages 25 1o 57 form part of these financial statements



CSM Finance Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year to 31 December 2021

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated on 29 November 2018. The Company is a private limited company, limited by
shares, domiciled and incorporated in England, United Kingdom.

The registered address and principal place of business is Exhibition House, Addison Bridge Place, London,
England, Wf4 8XP.

The Group consists of CSM Finance Limiled and all of its subsidiaries (note 13). The principal activily of the
Company during the year was to act as an intermediate holding company for the CloserStill Group of companies
which operate content-led exhibitions throughout the UK, Europe, USA and Asia.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation

The Group and Company financial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis in compliance with
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, “The Financlal Reporting
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of ireland” (*FRS 102") and the requirements of the
Companies Act 2008, including the provisions of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups {(Accounts
and Reports) Regulations 2008, and under the historical cost convention as modified by the recognition of certain
financial liabilities measured at fair value. These cansolidated financial statements are for the yearto 31 December
2021. The Group commenced trading from 19 December 2018 and the trading results are consolidated from this
date.

The financial statements are prepared and presenied in pound sterling, which is the functional currency of the
entity and the Group, and all monetary amounts have been rounded to the nearest £'000.

The accounting policies set oul below have been applied consistently for the year to 31 December 2021 in 'these
financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group and Company accounting policles.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumplions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements, are disclosed below,

Company Statement of Comprehensive Income

As permitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own Statement of
Comprehensive income.

Basig of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate those of CSM Finance Limited and all of its subsidiary
undertakings for the year ended 31 December 2021, Subsidiaries acquired during the year are consolidated using
the purchase method, Their results are incorporated from the date that control passes. All financial statements
are made up fo 31 December 2021.

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting
policies used into line with the accounting policies used by the Group.

P 3



CSM Finance Limited

Notes to Consclidated Financial Statements
For the year to 31 December 2021

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Going Concern

At 31 December 2021, the Group's financing arrangements consist of a £110m term loan (2020: £110m), a
£35m (2020: £35m) CAPEX facllity of which £25.7m (2020' £17 1m) had been drawn down, a £5m (2020
£5m} revoiving credit facility. During the year, a draw down of the CAPEX facility was undertaken for $5.5m
on 29 Decernber 2021 to fund 50% of the acquisition of Influence Group. LLC. The remaining 50% was funded
by PEP through a further issue of preference shares £17.5m was drawn from PEP in the year (2020: £6m)
through preference share issues against the Equity Commitment Letter ("ECL") £32m facility which was putin
place as part of the revised SFA agreement with Hayfin. No further funding from PEP is expected in 2022.

The Group is ordinarily highly cash generative hut due to Covid-19 rejated restrictions for most of 2020 and
2021, generation of cash was significantly reduced. The Group has net current liabilities of £55.7m (2020:
£38.8m) and made a loss before tax of £70.1m (2020: £54 4m, restated) due to the impact of the excess of
administrative expenses over revenue, and non-cash charges, which in 2021 includes an Impairment charge
of £21.8m (2020: £Nily against the Healthcare & Medical, Vet and Technology goodwill. This arose from
revised growth forecasts, post-Covid, and updated discount rates. Other non-cash charges include
amortisation of goodwill and intangible assets.

The Group has prepared for 2022 with a budget that shows good like-for-like revenue growth versus the 2019
pre-Covid-19 pandemic period, in addition, management has also prepared a sensitised downside scenario.
Management believe that all events will run in 2022 in some form due to the easing of Covid-19 restrictions,
however management can plausibly envisage a scenario where revenues are lower than current expectations
due to the timing of returning to full confidence for all regions. As such the downside scenario reflects a
significant reduction in revenue across some of the H1 smaller events and also a general reduction across H2
events where bookings are still to be secured. In reality, H2 bookings are ahead of expectations (and ahead of
previous cycles on a like for like basis) and therefore whilst it is plausible that sales may reduce, management
do not believe a materially significant reduction is likely. Some direct cost savings have been assumed against
the reduced revenue, however an allowance for sunk costs and continued investment has been maintained
given that, in reality, management would not wish to cut costs to the detriment of any future event. Management
are confident that continued careful cash management under the budgeted scenario will require no further
funding from PEP. This is the same case under the downside scenario as management have again assumed
that they can work with suppliers to support a level of cash management and maintain minimal fquidity levels
as required under the current SFA. If, however, this were not possible there remains an available £8.5m in
funding under the ECL commitment that has been received from PEP. Management therefore do not believe
there is likely to be a liquidity shortfall in 2022.

Whilst the Group has proven it can run events in 2021 and 2022 globally the Directors were aware in 2021 that
the situation could change, and this could have a significant impact on the liquidity and covenant projections.
For this reason, management again worked closely with PEP and Hayfin, to agree a further amendment o the.
SFA, which ensures the Group, under a no event scenario through to the end of March 2023, has sufficient
liquidity and remains within banking covenants.

The agreement provides for a waiver on covenant submissions through to March 2023 with the first covenant
test under the original 2018 SFA being due in June 2023. All liquidity tests and additional information agreed in
the temporary amended SFA will continue.

A Bridge Liquidity arrangement was executed on 2 July 2020 through a PEP Equity Commitment Letter (with
an availability of funds of no less than £32m) for general corporate and working capital purposes of the Group
1o ensure it maintains a8 minimum liquidity of £56m within the Group at each month end. The Bridge Liquidity
arrangement remains in place for an open ended period, to ensure there will be no liquidity issues for the
foreseeable future, until such point thal the Group can maintain liquidity to £5m and achieve covenants with a
leverage of 5x using EBITDA as calculated under normat accounting rules. The Bridge Liquidity arrangement
is also guaranteed by Citibank Europe PLC. As at 31 December 2021 the Group had drawn £23.5m. There
remains a further £8.5m available to draw under the guaranteed facility.
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CSM Finance Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year to 31 December 2021

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Going concemn (tontinued}

Following a rewarging and hugely successful suite of events towards the end of 2021, in particular in the UK
and Spain, management are further confident in knowing that the Group’s customers, exhibitors and delegates
continue to demand as strongly as ever the type of face to face events that the Group operates. Management
took tha view that Quarter 1 of 2022 may be difficult, in particular January and February, with the increase in
Omicron cases in December. Early 2022 events were therefore rescheduled to Quarter 2 including the highly
successful Learning Technologies event which now has a date line of May 2022 (previously February). Frankfurt
Tech also has a new date line of May following the need to postpone the December 2021 evert. All CloserStill
geographies are now opening up for face to face business and whilst there is sfill a concern over the volume of
attendees, versus previous cycles in some geographies, management are confident in aliracting the core C-
suite Board and Senior level atiendees that the exhibilors long to interact with, improving the quality of the events
and subsequently driving growth in forward bookings.

Three significant CloserStill events have taken place in March 2022, operating in each of the UK, France and
Spain, and all have delivered results in-line or in excess of budgets set. The UK Tech event ran at Excel 2-3
March. Investment was made in keynote speakers, with Sir Tim Bemners-Lee opening the event. The event
over achieved on audience delivery, achieving the total target numbers for two days of the show on day 1.
Pharmagora ran on 12-13" March in Paris and was another success with close to a 20% increase in revenue
versus the 2019 event and a 16% increase in number of exhibitors. Finally, the Infarma event ran on 22-24™
March in Madrid. This was the first event ran under the CloserStili ownership post the acquisition in 2019. The
event was well received by exhibitors and attendees with attendance being in line with previous editions.

CloserStill prides itself in being the best at what it does and this is demonstrated in its record of winning industry
awards, of which four new awards were presented to Closer3Still in March 2022 at the Exhibition News Awards
evening. Awards were won in the categories of Best Event Director, Best Trade Show, Best Operations Team
and Best Brand Expansion. This demonstrates our commitment to ous products, new launches and importantly
our staff.

All the events we have run since September 2021 and through to 2022 have exceeded our initial expectations
and as such reinforcas our view as to the undimmed demand for, and sustainability of, leading face to face
events of the type that CloserStill operates. The Group went into the new year with an order book for 2022 that
was ¢16% in excess of the like for like point in the pre-Covid 2019/2020 cycie. This is due not only to the strength
of postponed events where customers have maintained their booking through to the postponed future event,
but also due to very strong on-gite rebooking for 2022 events after running successful 2021 editions for which
we have seen in total forward bookings that have been ahead of previous cycles by ¢10%.

We belleve that the Group runs the #1 events in our markets with predominantly domestic audiences and so are
less impacted by travel restrictions and therefore management fully expect all events to run in 2022 in the belief
that the gecgraphies continue to remain open. Management have set 2022 budgets with strong top-line growth
relative to the Covid disruption the Group has faced, whilst continuing to ensure we invest sufficiently in our
post-Covid event delivery to best secure strong stakeholder satisfaction as well as invest in our content and
audience delivery capabifities to ensure short and medium term organic growth. In addition, the Group continues
to invest in structural improvements to our infrastructure in order to create better capability and capacity to
execule upon our future in-organic and launch growth agenda.

The Group enters 2022 with the vast majority of its individua! event cluslers expecting to grow in size vs. pre-
Covid position which management considers hugely encouraging. This growth expectation is supported by the
feedback on Q4 2021 and Q1 2022 events, the growth in order book vs previous cycles and the recent sales
frends in which we have seen several record sales weeks for the Group being recorded.

Afler making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources

to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The Group therefore continues to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing its financial statements.
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CSM Finance Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year to 31 December 2021

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign Currencies

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency (foreign currencies) are initially recorded at the
rate prevailing on the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in fareign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange rufing
at the reporting date. All translation differences are taken to the profit and loss account, except to the extent
that they relate to gains of losses on non-monetary items recognised in other comprehensive income, when
the related translation gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

The assets and Kabilities of foreign subsidiary undertakings are translated inte the Group's presentation
currency at the rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Income and expenses of overseas subsidiaries
are translated at the average rate for the year as the directors consider this to be a reasonable approximation
to the rate at the date of the transaction. Translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity until subsidiaries are disposed of.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when the exhibition takes place and is recognised at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for sale of services to external customers in the ordinary nature of the business. The
fair value of consideration takes into account trade discounts, settlement discounts and volume rebates.
. Revenue is shown net of Value Added Tax.

Revenue is recagnised in relation to separatety identifiable components of a single transaction when necessary
to reflect the substance of the arrangement and in relation to two or more linked transactions when necessary
to understand the commercial effect. Contra revenue is recognised when a service is provided to a customer
in exchange for goods and services provided to the Group. These transactions are recognisec at fair value.
Any amounts received prior to the exhibition being held are deferred and included in creditors until the
exhibition takes place. Direct expenditure incurred in relation to the exhibitions is also deferred to match the
corresponding revenue.

Exceptional items

The Group classifies certain one-off charges or credits that have a material impact on the Group's financial
results as ‘exceptional items’. These items are material by size or nature and non-recurring. These are
disclosed separately to provide further understanding of the financial performance of the Group.

Business combinations and gooadwill
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method.

The cost of a business combination is the fair value at the acquisition date, of the assets given, equity
instruments issued and liabilities and contingent liabilities incurred or assumed, pius directly attributable costs.
Where control is achieved in stages the cost is the consideration at the date of each transaction.

Contingent consideration is inilially recognised at the estimated amount where the consideration is probable
and can be measured reliably. VWhere (i) the contingent consideration is not considered probabile or cannot be
reliably measured but subsequently becomes probable and measurable or (i} contingent consileration
previously measured is adjusted, the amounts are recognised as an adjustment to the cost of the business
combination. Written instriments entered into at the same time as the business combination to acquire further
equity interests are classified as a puttable instrument, with the establishment of a financial liability, in
accordance with the substance of the transaction.

On acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities unless the fair value cannot be measured reliably, in which case the value is incorporated in goodwiil.
Intangible assels are only recognised separately from goodwill where they are separabte and arise from
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CSM Finance Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year to 31 December 2021

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill {continued)

contractual or other legal rights. Where the fair value of contingent liabilities cannot be reliably measured they
are disclosed on the same basis as other contingent liabilities.

The excess of the cost of a business combination over the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill. To the extent that the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost, and the Directors are satisfied this represents the
substance of the transaction, then negative goodwillis recognised.

Intangible Assets

Goodwill recognised represents the excess of the fair value and directly attributable costs of the purchase
consideration for an acquired undertaking or acquired trade and assets, compared with the fair value of the
Group’s interest in the identifiable net assets, liabilittes and contingent liabilities acquired. Goodwill is
capitalised and written off evenly over 10 years as in the opinion of the directors this represents the period
over which the goodwill is expected to give rise to economic benefits. Negative goodwill is likewise assigned
a maximum life of 10 years. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full financial year
following the acquisitions and thereafter at least annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. No reversals of impairment are
recognised. On acquisition, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs’) that are expected to benefit
from the combination.

Intangible assets arising on a business combination, being those assets acquired at the fair value on the
acquisition date, are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amontisation and accumulaled
impairment losses,

Marketing related intangible assets are defined as those assels that are primarily used in the marketing or
promotion of products or services. This is initially recognised at cost and subsequenlly measured at cosl less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Customer related intangible assets may consist of customer lists, order or production backlogs, customer
contacts and relationships, and non-contractual customer relationships. This is initially recognised at.cost and
subsequently measured al cost less accurnulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised exhibition licence expenditure is initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accurnulated impairment losses.

The Group capitalises expenditure on websites'for its exhibition events.
Amortisation (charged to administrative expenses) is provided on intangible fixed assets s0 as to write off the
cost or valuation over their expected useful economic life as follows:

Marketing related 15 years, straight line basis

Customer related — Customer relationships 10 years, straight line basis

Customer related - Order backlogs 1 year

Licences 10 years or, if shorter, the term of the licence, straight line basis
Websites 3 years, straight line basis

Other intangible assets between 3 and 5 years, straight line basis



CSM Finance Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year to 31 December 2021

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued}
Tangible Fixed Assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment. Depreciation

(charged to administrative expenses) s provided on tangible fixed assets so as to write off the cost or valuation,
less any pstimated residual value, over their expected useful economic life as follows:

Office equipment between 3 and 5 years, straight line basis
Fixtures and fittings between 3 and 5 years, straight line basis
Leasehold improvemenls 5§ years, straight line basis

Impairment

Fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable or as otherwise required by reievant accounting standards. Shortfalls
between the carrying value of fixed assets and their recoverabie amounts, being the higher of net realisable
value and value-in-use, are recognised as impairments. All impairment losses are recognised in the profit
and loss account.

Investments in subsidiaries

Fixed asset investments are stated at historical cost less provision for any permanent diminution in value.
In the financial statements of the Company, interests in subsidiaries, associates and jomtly controlled entities
ara initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Interests in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controfled entities are assessed for impairment at each
reporting date. Any impairments, losses or reversals of impairment are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Finance costs

Finance costs of debt are recognised in the profit and loss account over the term of such instruments at a
constant rate on the carrying amount

Taxation

The taxation expense represents the aggregate amount of current and deferred tax recognmsed in the
reporting year. Tax is recognised in profit and loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
the other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, tax is recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively,

Current tax is recognised on taxable profit for the current year. Current tax is measured at the amounts of
tax expected to pay or recover using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted

at the reporting date.

Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total
comprehensive income as stated in the financial statements. These timing differences arise from the
inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in penods different from those in which they are
recognised in financial statements.

Deferred tax is recognised on aif timing differences at the reporting date. Unrelieved tax iosses and other
deferred tax assels are only recognised when it s probable thai they will be recovered against the reversal
of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Deferred tax is measured using 1ax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantwely enacted by the
year endt and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference .
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year to 31 December 2021

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is also recognised on differences between the value of assets recognised in a business
combination and the amounts that can be deducted or assessed for tax. The deferred tax recognised is
adjusted againat Goodwill.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised based on the accrual model and are measured at fair vatue of the asset
received of receivable. Grants are classified as either relating to assets or revenue, Grants relating tG revenue
are recognised in income over the period in which the related costs are recognised. Amounts receivable
under various govemment Covid-19 related job support schemes across jurisdictions are recognised in other
income in the statement of comprehensive income.

Leases

Atinception the Group assesses agreements that transfer the right to use assets. The assessment considers
whether the armangement is, or contains, a lease based on the substance of the arrangement.

Leases of assets that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are classified as
finance leases. The Group and Company does not currently have such leases.

Leases that do not transfer all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Rentals
payable under operating leases, including any lease incentives received, are charged to income on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease except where another more systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the lease asset are consumed.

Employee benefits

The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense.

The best estimate of the expenditure required to settle an obligation for termination benefits is recognised
immediately as an expense when the Group is demonstrably commitied to terminate the employment of an
employee or to provide termination benefits.

Retirement benefits

The companies within the Group that have employees, have a defined confribution pension scheme, the
terms of which are identical across all companies concemead The amount charged to profit and loss is the

contributions payable in the year. Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions
actually paid are shown as either accruals of prepayments.
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CSM Finance Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year to 31 December 2021

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)}
Employee share ownership plans

The Group operates one Employee Share Scheme (ESS). The shares are held in an Employee Benefit Trust
{(EBT) outside the Group. Consideration paid for the shares is shown within reserves. Finance costs and
administrative expanses incurred by the Company in relation fo the ESS are recognised on an accrual's
basis.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted at the date at which they are granied and is recognised as an expense over the expected
vasting period. Fair value is determined by an exiernal valuer using an appropriate pricing model. In valuing
equity-seitled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to the
price of the shares of the company (market conditions) and non-vesting conditions. No expense is recognised
for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-
vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to
which the vesling period has expired and management's best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of
non-market conditions and of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or in the case of an
instrument subject to a market condition, be treated as vesting as describad above.

The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet date is recognised in the income
slatement, with a corresponding entry in equity. Where the terms of an equity-seitled award are modified or a
new award is designated as replacing a cancelled or settled award, the cost based on the original award terms
continues to be recognised over the original vesting period.

In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new vesting pericd for the incremental fair
value of any madification, based on the difference between the fair value of the original award and the fair
value of the modified award, both as measured on the date of the modification. No reduction is recognised if
this difference is negative.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is freated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
cost not yet recognised in the profit and loss account for the award is expensed immediately. Any
compensation paid up to the fair value of the award at the cancellation or settlement date is deducted from
equity, with any excess over fair value expensed in the profit and loss account. The financial effect of awards
by the parent company of its equity shares granted to the employees of subsidiary undertakings are recognised
by the parent company in its individual financial statements. in particutar the parent company records an
increase in its investment in subsidiaries with a credit to equity equivalent to the cost in the subsidiary
underiakings.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held on call with banks, other short-term liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowings in current liabilities.

Financial Instruments

The Group has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments. Financial
assets and financial liabilities are recegnised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument, and are offset only when the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts and intends either o settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the lability

simultanecusty.
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For the year to 31 December 2021

2. ACCOQUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments {continued)
i. Basic financial assets

Basic financial assets, which include trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances, are initially
measured at transaction price including transaction costs and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using
the effective interast method unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the financial
asset is measured at the prasent value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest,

ii. Other financial assets

Trade debtors, loans and olher receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market are classified as 'loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for shorl-lerm receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial. The
effective interest method is a method of calculating the amoriised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
the interest income over the relevant period The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected fife of the debt instrument to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

iii. Basit financial habilities

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, bank loans, loans from fellow Group companies
and preference shares that are classified as debt, are initialy recognised at transaction price unless the
arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value
of the future payments discounted at a market rate of interest. Debt instruments are subsequently caried.-at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Trade creditors payable within one year that do not constitute a financing transaction are initially measured at
the transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost, being the transaction price less any
amounts setiled.

fv Qther financial habilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets
of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities.

Classification of financial liabilities and equity

Financial instruments are classified as liabilities and equity instruments according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Loan notes and bank loans are recorded at amortised cost. Transaction costs incurred in securing laan notes
are measured at amortised cost, and deducted from the value of the loans and ioan notes. The difference
between the liability recognised and the principal payable at maturity is recognised as an interest expense
over the expected life of the instrument.

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at the transaction price, including transaction costs, and subsequently

measured at amortised cost. Interest is recognised on the basis of the effective interest method. Interest
expense is included in interest payable and similar charges.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has an obé#gation at the reporting date as a result of a past event
which it is probable will result in the transfer of economic benefits and that obligation can be estmated refiably.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to setde the obiigation. where the
effect of the time value of money is material. the prowision is based on the present value of those amounts,
discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that refiects the risks speciic to the liability. The unwinding of the
discount is recognised within the interest payable and similar charges.

Share capital

Ordinary and preference shares are classified as equity.

Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related aclual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjusiment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below:

Estimates

a} Fair value of acquisitions (note 22, note 17)

The fair value of intangible assets acquired (£12,460,000 in Ihe year ended 31 December 2021) on the
acquisitions of businesses involves the use of valuation techniques and the estimation of future cash
flows to be generated over a number of years and also a selection of appropriale discount rates in order
to calculate the net present value of those cash flows. In addition, the estimation of the contingent
consideration payable using the estimation of the lsvel of profitability is often required. The estimation
of the value of the puticail options entered into as part of acquisitions (£11,131,000 at 31 December
2021 (2020: £4,276,000)) likewise requires estimation as to the level of future profitability and could be
subject to material change, depending on performance, in future years.

b} Impairment assessment of intangible assels and goodwill (note 11) (2021: £281,488,000 at 31
December 2021). Impairment charge of £21 846,000 (note 5)
Goodwill and intangible assets are tested for impairment annually, or whenever there is an impairment
indication. The calculation of the recaoverable amount typically requires estimation of the relevant cash
flows in each of the Cash Genarating Units (CGUs) based on their value in use. This requires estimation
of the future cash flows and also the selection of an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the
net present value of those cash flows.

c) Provision for deferred tax (note 19) (Total asset of £4,642,000 and Liability of £45,417,000 at 31
December 2021)
Provision is made for deferred taxation based on the estimated fair value of inlangible assets on
acquisitions (see a) above). This requires applying enacted corparation tax rates to the estimation of the
future amortisation profile. The provision and assumptions are reviewed annually to reflect any changes
in the current and fulure amoriisation profile and changes in enacted corporation tax rates. The
recognition of a deferred tax asset is subject to estimates as to the likely timing, quantum and geographic
location of futurs taxable profits, together with an assessment of the tax rates that will be applicable as
they arise.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty (continued)

d)

Share based payments (note 6) {charge of £688,000 in the year ended 31 December 2021)

The fair value of shares granted to employees involves the use of valuation techniques t0 estimate the
share value at the time of grant. The fair value of the shares issued during the year is determined by third
party experts using a Black Scholes model at the date of grant. In addition, the estimation of atirition rates
of employees and the expected period of ownership is also required in calculating the charge for each
accounting period. This estimate of the attrition rate of employees is reviewed annually using experience
of actual attrition rates since the share grants,

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods If the revision affects both current
and future periods,

Judgements

e)

8

h)

Going concem

The directors’ assessment of Group's ability to continue as a going concern involved the estimation of future
sales, expenses, taxation and cash flows in order to mest its obligations as they fail due. Further detail is
provided abave in this note,

Non-consolidation of Employee Benefit Trust

An Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) exists to repurchase the shares of employees within the share based
payment scheme wheo have then left the Group. The directors of CSM Finance Limited do not consider it is
appropriate 10 consolidate the employee benefits trust as the Company does not have control of EBT trust.
The appointment of trustees to the EBT is in the form of an independent company selected by, Providence
Equity Partners who ultimately make decisions to benefit the beneficiaries of the trust, not the Company.

Non-conlrolling interests in subsidiaries

In view of the written put/call options to purchase the remaining shares not already owned by the Group,
a judgement is required to be made as to whether it is appropriate o recognise a non-controlling interest
at the balance sheet date. Having considered the terms of the enfities’ anicles of association, a
iudgement was reached that the minority holders continue 10 have access 0 the risks and rewards of
ownership in proportion to their ownership stake and thus a non-controlling interest is recognised and
allocated its share of profits and losses in the narmal way. The key considerations in arriving at this
judgement were: rights to dividends, voting and decision-making rights and rights on a winding up.

Classification of preference shares

Preference shares are classified as equity instruments since they are not considered to comprise a
contractual obligation to deliver cash (or other financial assats) or to exchange financial assets or liabilities
under conditions which are potentially unfavourable. As the issuer of the instruments it is considered that
the Company, under the terms of its Articles of association and the Board’s decision making process, has
the unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another financial asset to settie the contractual
obligations within the terms of the preference shares.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Prior year adjustments

i)

ii)

The fair value of the put/call options entered into on certain acquisitions in prior years has not been
recognised and, as a result of this, the estimated liabilities for the purchase under those arrangements of
the share of the subsidiaries not already owned by the Group was understated in the financial statements.
This has been corrected as a prior year adjustment. The impact on equity as at 3t December 2019 and
31 December 2020 is a reduction of £6,578,000 and £4,276,000 respectively. There is no impact on the
reporied profit in prior periods, since changes in the estimated fair value of the liabiiity are recorded
through equity under the Group's accounting policy election made for these liabilities.

The acquisition accounting adopted in 2019 for the acquisition of CloserStill Media Holdings Limited
incorrectly excluded ihe deferred tax liability to be recognised on customer related intangible assets —
custorner relationships. in addition, the impact of changes in tax rates has not been reflected in deferred
tax fiability balances. Consequently, both goodwill and deferred tax liabilities were understated at 31
December 2019 by £3,687,000 and £3,712,000 respectively and the impact on equity at 31 December
2019 was a £25000 reduction. At 31 December 2020, goodwill and deferred tax liabilities were
understated by £3,278,000 and £6,583,000 respectively. The impact on equity at that date is £3,305,000.
The impact to the Income Staternent for the year ended 31 December 2020 is £3,280,000.

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2019

As previously Prior year Restated
stated  adjustments
£000 £'000 £'000
. Goodwill {ii) 141,953 3687 145,840
Creditors: Amounts due within one year {i) (48,853 - (48,853)
Creditors: Amounts dua in more than one year (i) {111,233) (6,578) (117.811)
Provisions for liabilities (ii} (29,252) (3,712 (32,964)
Net assets 171,768 (6.603) 165,165
Accumulated losses (23.862) _ (6.603) (30,465)
Consolidated Income Statement for the year to 31 December 2020
As previously Prior year Restated
stated adjustments
£'000 £'000 £000
Administrative expenses — goodwill amortisation {ii} {60.187) (410) (680,597)
Tax on loss (i) 2,590 (2,870) (280)
Loss for the financial year {51,359) (3,280) (54,639)




CSM Finance Limited

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year to 31 December 2021

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Prior year adjustments (continued)

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2020

AS previously Prior year Restated
stated  adjustments

£'000 £000 £'000

Goodwill (i) 131,362 3,278 134,640
Creditors: Amounts due within one year (i} {71,067) {1,664) {72,731)
Creditors: Amounts due in more than one year {ji) (129,727) {2,612) (132,339)
Provisions for liabilities (i) {29,515) (6.583) (36.098)
Net assets 121,536 (7,581) 113,955
Accumulated losses {(73.589) (7,581) (81,170)

Further detail as to changes in creditors bafances is given in notes 16 and 17,

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 December 2020

Impact of prior year adjustments

Items i) and ii) above are non-cash matters and there is no impact on net cash used in operating or invasting
activities, nor on net cash generated from financing activities. The net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
for the year is unchanged. Consequential changes to the loss for the financial year, the amortisation charge
and the tax charge, each as restated above, and as disclosed in the Consolidated Staternent of Cash Flows

have been made,

Re-presentation of Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

The statement for the year ended 31 December 2020 has been re-presented so as to match the format used
in the current yaar on a consistertt basis and in accordance with the presentation requirements of FRS 102.
Cash and cash equivalents, for the purposes of the cash flow statement include bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash management.
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3. REVENUE

The Group's turnover and loss before taxation for the year to 31 December 2021 were all derived from its
principal activity. Sates were derived from events held in gecgraphical locations, as follows:

2021 2020

Group Group

£000 £'000

United Kingdom 22178 13,833

Usa 4,697 1,300

France 78 1,544

Germany 1,899 1119

Singapore 415 67

Hong Kong 3 391

Spain 2,082 506

Total 31,352 18,765
Analysis of lurnover by category was as follows.

2021 2020

Group Group

£'000 £'000

Space and shell revenue 14,148 10,288

Sponsors revenue 11,275 3317

Other revenue 863 2863

Conference fees 3,580 652

Contra revenue 748 676

Catalogue and show guide 167 368

Insurance and inspaction e 571 601
Totat 31,352 18,765

4. OPERATING LOSS

The aperating loss from continuing operations is stated after charging/{crediting}:
2021

2020

(restated)

£000 £'000

Amortsation of G::od\mll and negative goodwill (note 11} 16.885 17 .024
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 11) 16438 15222
Impairment of goodwil (note 11) 21 846 .
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets (note 12} 679 751
Auditors' remuneration - taxation advisory services 239 111
Auditors' remuneration - statutory audit 281 482
Operating lease expense 1393 1.397
Impairment of trade receivables (575} 946
Share based payments 9es 845
Foreign exchange (gains)losses on bank loans £1.368) 707
Other net foreign exchange losses/tgains) 1,384 (285)
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5. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

2021 2021 2020 2020

Group Company Group Company

€000 £'000 o £000 £'000

COWVID 19 related costs 2 - 1,542 -
Heng Kong closure {creditycost 4] - 100 -
Messe restructure (credit)/cost {185) - 1,087 -
Impairment of goodwil 21,846 . . .
Covid 19 sunk costs 772 ) - 2,501 .
Total 23,137 : - 5,210 -

During the year, mainly due to Covid-19, several exceptional expenses were incurred. These are mainly sunk
tosts and expanses on restructuring or closure of any operations during the year.

Impairment of goodwill is a result of the annual assessment performed, based on an assessed value in use
{recoverable amount) refative o camying value. Further information is given in note 11. The charge Is
recognised within administrative expenses

6. STAFF COSTS

The average monthly number of employees (including the executive directors} during the year were:

2021 2020
No. No.
Administration 269 297
Management 8 8
277 305
2021 . 2020
£'000 £'000
Employee costs during the year:
Wages and salaries 14,843 12,570
Social security costs 1,800 1,754
Other pengion costs 461 440
Share based payment 988 945
18,182 15.709
Directors' remuneration: 2021 2020
£000 £'000
The Directors’ remuneration for the vear was as follows:
Aggregate remuneration 552 5§36
Highest paid director:
Aggregate remuneration 292 287
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6. STAFF COSTS (continued)

©On 4 February 2021 a loan of £25,000 was made to a Director of the Company to facilitate a share purchase.
The loan is repayable on the earlier of an exit event or certain earlier events such as transfer of shares in
accordance with the Company's Articles of Association. The loan is non-interest bearing. No amounts were
repaid, written off or waived in the year. The amount outstanding at 31 December 2021 was £25,000 (2020:
£nil).

Post-employment benefits are accruing for one (2020: one) director under a defined contribution scheme. Tweo
(2020: two) directors received shares under share purchase schemes.

Defined contribution pension plana

The Group operates a number of country-specific defined contribution pension schemes for the benefit of the
employees and directors. A defined contribution ptan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. Once the contributions have been paid the Group has no further payment
obligations. The contributions are recagnised as an expense when they are due. Amounts not paid are shown
in accruals in the balance sheet. The assets of the plans are held separately from the Group in independently
administered funds.

The total pension contributions during the year amounted to £461,000 (2020: £440,000). The amount of
pension contributions due but not paid over to the pension scheme at the year end was £41,275 (2020:
£36,530). Contributions made in respect of the highest paid director to money purchase schemes were £2,198
(2020: £2,127).

Share Purchase Scheme
The Group operates one share-based payment scheme for its employees.

Certain qualifying employees participate in the share purchase scheme, where they are offered shares at a
nominal value, subject to management appraisal and the terms of their service. The Group makes grants of
shares on an irregular basis and it is a condition of the scheme that, at the discretion of management, shares
are returned when employees leave. The vesting requirements of the scheme involve the achievement of
cerlain threshold values on an exit event. The charge recegnised during the year was £1,050,652 (2020:
£945,178).

201 2020

No. of shares No. of shares

“Oulstanding as at 1 January 227,656 225922
Granted 25,000 9,798
Forfeited (9.282) (8,064}
Outstanding at 31 December 243,374 227,686

Measurement of fair value

The fair vatue of the shares issued during the year is determined by third party experts using a Black Scholes
model at the date of grant as this is considered the most representative method of estimating the valuation of

the equity instruments granted.
Company

The company had no employees during 2021 or 2020 Thus there 1S no charge in the income statement for
employee costs or share-based payments.
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7. REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

The key management personnel of the Group are considered to be the directors. Total remuneration of the
directors is stated in Note 6 to these financial statements.

8. INTEREST RECEWABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

2021 2020
Group Group
£'000 £'000
Bank interest - 6
- 6
9. INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR EXPENSES
2021 2020
Group Group
£000 £'000
Interest on bank loan and similar expenses 7.662 7,545
Other interest payable - 287
Monitoring fees - 25
Commitment fees 340 178
Amortisation of borrowing arrangement fees 651 653
8,683 8,688
40. TAXONLOSS
2021 2020
; Group
a) Tax in the year Group {restated)
£000 _ £000
Current income tax
Current tax on losses for the year 587 (481}
Adjustment in respect of prior years 24 -
Total current incorne tax charge/{credit) 611 {461)
Deferred tax
Reversal of timing differences (see note 19} (2.561_') (2,791}
Impact of change in tax rate 8,052 3,532
Recognition of tax losses (4.642) .
Adjustment in respect of pricr vears {30) -
Total deferred tax charge 819 741
Tax charge in the Consolidated Income Statement 1,430 280
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10. TAX ON LOSS {continued)

b) Reconcifiation of income tax charge

2021 2020
Group
Group (restated)
£'000 £'000
Loss before tax {70,138) (54,359)
Standard tax rate 19.00% 19.00%
Loss before tax muliplied by standard tax rate {13,326) {10,328)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 10,243 6,998
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation (88) (41)
Utilisation of losses 621) -
Group relief (7) 119
Adjustment in respect of prior years (8) -
Unrecognised losses 2,490 -
Losses recognised (4.642) -
Overseas tax rate adjustment {655) -
Tax rate adjustment 8,052 3,532
Total tax charge 1,430 280

¢) Factors affecting future tax charge

In the Spring Budget 2021, the UK Government announced that from 1 April 2023 the corporation tax rate
would increase to 25% (rather than remaining at 19%, as previously enacted) This new law was substantively
enacted on 24 May 2021. Deferred taxes at the balance sheet date have been measured using these enacted

tax rates and reflected in these financial statements. Changes in overseas tax rates will similarly have an effect

on both current and deferred tax
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer
related Customer
Marketing intangible related
related assets - intangible
intangible Customer  assets - Order
Goodwill assets relationships backlogs
Group £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Cost;
1 January 2021 (restated) 168,240 187,735 24,186 1,690
On acquisition {note 22) 2,274 12,460 - -
- Consideration ad]uslments 80 - - -
Additions - - - -
Transfers ‘ - . _
Foreign exchange 350 {543) -
31 December 2021 170,944 199,652 24,186 1,590
Accumulated’ Amomsation and
Impairment:
1 January 2021 (restated) 33,600 23,998 4,924 1,590
Charge for the year i 16,885 12,514 2419
Transfers - - -
Impairment (note 5) 21 ,846 - - .
Foreign exchange {51) {78) - -
31 December 2021 72,280 36,434 7,343 1,590
_Net book vaiue 31 December 2021 _ 95,664 163.218 16,843 -
Licences Assets
and other under
Woebsite intangibles construction Total
Group £000 £000 £000 £'000
Cost:
1 January 2021 (restated) 982 2,629 126 385,388
On acquisition (note 22) - - - 14,734
Consideration adjustments - - - 80
Additions 49 1,850 21 1,920
Transfers (451) 577 {126) -
Foreign exchange (6) 86 - {113)
31 December 2021 574 5042 21 402,008
Accumulated Amortisation and
Impairment
1 January 2021 (restated) 542 602 - 65,288
Charge for the vear 87 1,418 - 33,323
Transfers (111) 111 - -
Impairment {note 5) - - - 21,846
Foreign exchange (11 236 - 96
31 December 2021 507 2,367 - 120,521
_Net book value 31 December 2021 67 2876 21 281,488
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Customer Customer
related related
Marketing intangible intangible
related assets - assets -
Goodwill intangible Customer Order
{restated) assets relationships backlogs
Group £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost:
1 January 2020 162,217 178,270 24,186 1,590
On acquisition {note 22) 5,523 0,446 - -
Additions 293 - - -
Transfers - - - -
Disposals - - - -
Foreign exchange 207 19 - -
31 December 2020 168,240 187,735 24,186 1,590
Accumulated Amortisation and
Impairment:
1 January 2020 16,576 1,707 2,505 1,590
Charge for the year 17,024 12,291 2419 -
Disposals - - - -
Impairment (note 5) - - -
Foreign exchange - - - -
._31 December 2020 33,600 23,998 4924 1,590
Net book value 31 December 2020 134,640 163,737 18,262 -
Licences Asgsets
and other under Total
Website intangibles construction (restated)
Group £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost:
1 January 2020 678 1,766 a2 369,029
On acquisition {note 22) - 66 - 15,035
Additions 352 387 126 1,158
Translers - 322 (322) -
Disposals (39) - - (39)
Foreign exchange {9) {12) - 205
31 December 2020 982 2,529 126 385,388
Accumulated Amortisation and
impairment: )
1 January 2020 351 365 - 33,094
Charge for the year 210 302 32,246
Disposals (14) (61} (75)
Impairment (note 5) - - - -
Foreign exchange (5) (4) - -{9)
31 December 2020 542 602 - 65,256
Net hook value 31 December 2020 440 1.927 126 320,132
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Goodwill, Marketing related intangible assets and Customer related intangible assets are allocated across
multipte Cash Generating Units {CGUs) which represent the verticals in which the Group Is managed by the
board of directors.

The Group consists of six separate CGUS, which are as follows.
1}  Heakhcare & Medical

i Vet

i) Technoiogy

) Leaming Technology

v) Ecommerce

vi} Altemmative Formals

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or whenever there is an impairment indication, at the CGU level
on the basis of value in use. The key assumptions in the value in use calculation are shown below:

201 2020

Group Group
Expected revenue growth over forecast period (CAGR) 9.5% 9.8%
Period of management approved forecasts 5 years 6 years
Growth rate beyond approved forecast period 2% 2%
Discount rate (pre-tax) 14.7% 11%

The key assumptions in the value in use calculation are the forecast cashflows, iong term growth rate and the
discount rate. An impairment charge of £21,846,000 (2020: £nil} has been recognised against the Healthcare
& Medical, Vet and Technology CGUs, reflecting revised growth forecasts post-Covid. If actual cash flows are
not in line with forecasts, an additianal impairment charge of £13,944,000 against the gocdwill in the CGU's
identified as impaired may result. Long term growth rates are considered to match those likely to be achieved,
over the long term, in the markets served by the Group. A reduction to 1% would result in additional impairment
of £9,530,000 against those same goodwill balances. Similarly, an increase in the pre-tax discount rate to
15.5% would result in additional impairment of £12,122,000. After recognition of the impairment in the year,
the remaining goadwill in the affected CGUs is £68.790.000.

12, TANGIBLE ASSETS

Leasehold Office Fixtures and

improvements equipment fittinga Total
Group £000 £000 - ‘£'000 £000
Cost:
1 January 2021 338 931 1,060 2,329
QOn acquisition (note 22} - - - R
Additions - 360 : 173 533
Disposals - (3 (46) (49)
Foreign exchange (11} (20) (27) {58)
31 December 2021 327 1,268 1,160 2,755
Accumulated Depreciation:
1 January 2021 166 594 498 1,268
Charge for the year 53 379 247 YoeT9
Disposals - - (48) {46)
Foreign exchange - {14) (17 {31)
31 December 2021 218 988 682 1,860
Net book value 31 December 2021 108 308 478 895
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12. TANGIBLE ASSETS {continued)

Leasehold Office Fixtures and Total
improvements equipment fittings ota
Group £000 £'000 E'000 £'000
Cost:
1 January 2020 302 613 709 1,624
On acquisition (note 22) - 121 305 426
Additions 28 116 16 160
Disposals 9 82 (48) 13
Foreign exchange (1) 29 78 106
31 December 2020 338 931 1,060 2,329
Accumulated Depreciation:
1 January 2020 78 274 145 497
Charge for the year a9 305 357 751
Disposals - - - -
Foreign exchange (1) 15 {4) 10
31 December 2020 166 594 498 1,258
Net book value 31 December 2020 172 337 5§62 1,071
13. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company
Shares in Group
undertakings
Cost and Net Book Value 2021 2020
£'000 £'000
At 1 January 192,235 192,235
_At 31 Decomber 192,235 192,235

On 19 December 2018 CloserStill Exhibitions Limited acquired CloserStill Media Holdings Limited and all

associated subsidiary companies.

The consolidated financial statements include the results of all subsidiaries as listed below. Certain
subsidiarigs have taken the exemption from an audit for the year ended 31 December 2021 by virfue of s475A
of Companies Act 2008. In order to allow these subsidiaries to take the audit exemption, CSM Finance Limited
has provided a guarantee to these subsidiaries, in accordance with s479C. This guarantees that CSM Finance
Limited will support these subsidiaries in full going forward, wilt not recall any loans and will provide financial
support if it should be required. CSM Finance Limited are committed to supporting the guarantee as required,
in accordance with s479C. The subsidiaries which have taken an exemption from an audit for the year ended
3t December 2021 by virlue of s479A Companies Act 2006 are noted in the table below.

Effective

share
Company holding Registered Principal activity
*ACloserStill Exhibitions Limited 100% England’ intermediary holding

100% Intermediary holding
*ACloserSiill Media Holdings Limited England* company

100% Intermediary hoiding
ACloserStill Finance Limited England* company
*ACloserSiill Acquisitions Limited 100% England? Intermediary hotding
*ACloserStill Cloud Expo Europe 100% Engtand? Organisation of exhibitions
*ACloserStill Smart 10T Limited 100% England? Organisation of exhibitions
*ACloserStill Cloud Security Expo 100% England® Organisation of exhibitions
*AGarman Vet Limited 100% England? Organisation of exhibitions
*ACloserStill E-Commerce Limited 90% England’ Organisation of exhibitions
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13. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

“CloserStill Learning GmbH 100%
*OEB Learning Technologies Europe  100%
**CloserStill Media 1 Limited 100%
*ACloserStill Media 2 Limited 100%
**CloserStill Media 3 Limited 100%
*AFrance Vet Limited 100%
*"CloserStill Media Limited 100%
*CloserStill Learntech Asia Pte. 90%
*Cloud Expo Asia Pte. Limited 100%
*ACloserStill Nominees Limited 100%
*ACloserStill Powering The Cloud 100%
*APharmagora Limited 100%
*CloserStill Media Hong Kong Limitec  100%
*ACloserStill Big Data Limited 100%
*CloserStilt Vet US LLC 100%
*CloserStilt France SARL 100%
*ADE France Limited 100%
*Big Data World Europe GmbH 50.01%
*ACloserStill France Limited 100%
*CloserStil MVM LLC 80%
*Modern Veterinary Media Inc 80%
*Wild West Veterinary Conference 80%

*Chicagoland Veterinary Conference 80%
*CloserStill Learning Technologies 100%

*CSM Learning LLC 100%
*FacusZone Media Inc 80%
**CloserStill Exhibitions Limited 100%
**CloserStill Media Holdings Limited 100%
**Healthcare Publishing & Events 100%
*Interalia, Ferias Profesionales y 80%
*CloserStill Technologia SL 100%

*Spring Messe Management GmbH 100%
*CloserStill US Holding Company Inc 100%
*Influence Group LLC 60%

Germany?
Gemany?
England’
England’
England’
England’
England’
Singapore?
Singapore®
England’
England®
England!
Hong
England’
USAS
France®
England?
Germany?
Englangd’
USA7
USAt
USAW
usatw
uUsa’
USA8
USA®
England’
England?
England™
Spain
SpainV
Germany'?
UsAiﬂ'
UsA™

Intermediary holding
Organisation of exhibitions
Intermediary holding
Intermediary holding
Intermediary holding
QOrganisation of exhibitions
Qrganisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Qrganisation of exhibitions
Holder of employee shares
Organisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Intermediary holding
Intermediary holding
Organisation of exhibitions
Qrganisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Intermediary halding company
Organisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Intermediary holding company
Intermediary holding company
Organisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Organisation of exhibitions
Qrganisation of exhibitions
Intermediary holding company
Hosted buyer events

The subsidiaries in the table above are included In the consolidated finandial statements.

Key to the above table-

*Held indirectty through subsidianes of the Company.
ASubsidlaries taking an audit exemption under s479A-C of the Companies Act 2006
1 Registered Address; Extubiion House, Addison Bridge Place. London, W14 8XP
2 Registered Address: Leibnizstrasse 32 10625 Herlin
* Registered Address; 10-05 Anson House. 72 Anson Road. Singapore 079911

4 Registered Address: 6" Floor, Wyndham Place 40-44 Wyncham Street. Central, Hong Kong
% Registered Address: Suita 1202 266 West 37th Streat. New York, 10018,

¢ Registered Address: Bureau 122 16-18 Rue de Londres,
7 Registered Address: 1675 S State St Ste B, Dover, Kent, DE, USA, 19901

® Repistered Address: 3500 S Dupont Hwy, Dover. Kent DE, USA, 19901

? Registered Address; 120 Stony Peint Road. Suite 125, Santa Rosa. CA, USA
10 Registerad Address: 10 S Jeffarson St. Ste 1400, Roanoke. VA, 24011

1 Rpgistered Aduress: Rambia de Catalunya n® 60, 3% 1° 08700 Barcelona.

12 Registered Address: Am Friedensplatz 3, 68165, Mannheim
1} Registered Address: 266 West 37" Street, Suite 1202, New York. NY 10018
4 Ragisterad Address: 85 Broad Street. 8" Floor, New York, NY 1004
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14. DEBTORS
Group Company Group Company
2021 2021 2020 2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Trade deblors 20913 B - T 22308 .
Amounts cwed by group undertakings - - 629 -
Other deblors 2023 - 760 .
_Prepayments and accrued Income 3960 - 3756 -
26,896 - 27,454
Amounts due after more than ane year
Deferred tax 3314 - - -
30,210 - 27,454 .

The amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured, non-interest bearing, have no fixed date of
repayment and are repayable on written demand by the Company.

Trade debtors are shown above net of a provision for doubtful debts of £923,000 (2020: £1,498,000).

15. CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND

__ Group Company Group  Comgany

2021 2021 2020 2020

£'000 £000 £000 £900

Cash at bank and in hand 11,708 T 6,466 -

16. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

Group

Group Company (restated*) Company

2021 2021 2020 2020

£'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Bank loans and overdrafts 4,883 - 4 595 R
Trade creditors 4 465 - 2788 -
Amounts owed to group undertakings 27,113 - 6077 -
Other taxation and social secunty 961 - 1,479 .
Other creditors 5561 - 4570 .
Corporation tax 1512 - 1415 .
Put/call instrument redemption lability 1804 - 1,684 -
Accruals and deferred income 51272 - 50,143 .
97,571 - 72,731 -

The amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured, non-interest bearing, have no fixed date of
repayment and are repayable on written demand by the counterparty.

*restated for the inclusion of £1,664,000 Put/call inatrument redemption liability at 31 December 2020. See
note 2
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17. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

Group Company ( resg:::"; Company

2021 2021 2020 2020

£000 £000 £'000 £'000

Bank loans 133,088 - 129,727 -
Put/call instrument redemption liability 9,327 - 2,612 -
142 415 - 132,339 -

*rastated for the inclusion of £2,612,000 Put/call instrument redemption liability at 31 December 2020. See
nole 2.

Included in borrowings is 2 bank loan of £110m which is subject to interest at the rate of SONIA plus 6.36%.
The Group also has a £35m acquisition/capex facility of which £25.7m (2020: £17.1m) has been drawn as of
the year end. This is subject o interest at the rate of SONIA plus €.15%. The maturity date for these loans is
19 December 2025.

The Group has a revolving credit facility of £5m which is subject to an interest rate of SONIA plus 3% and has
a maturity date of 19 December 2023. The amounts drawn at year ead are £4,883,000 (2020: £4,595,000)
and are included within Creditors: Amounts faling due within one year. Bank loans are shown net of
arrangement fees of £2,585,000 (2020: £3,235,000).

The bank loan facilities are secured by guarantees from certain Group companies and by fixed and ﬁoatang
charges over certain of the assets of a number of the Group's companies.

- 4% -
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amount of the financial instruments were

Group Group
2021 2020
£'000 £000 _
Financial asgels that are debt instruments measured at amortised
costs:
Trade debtors (note 14) 20913 22,309
Cash at bank and in hand 11,705 6,466
32,618 28,775
Financlal Habllities measured at amortised cost:
Trade creditors (note 16) 4,465 2,788
Bank loans and overdrafts {note 16 & 17) 137,971 134 322
142,436 137,110
Financial Habilities measured at
fair value:
Put/call instrument redemption liability 11,131 4,276
11,131 4,276

Fair value is determined using a discounted cash fiow with assumptions made about the future earnings of
the subsidiary (which determine the amount paid), discounted at 13.5%. The difference between the carrying
amount and the amount contractually required to be paid at maturity is £4,430,000 (2020: £1,347,000).

The Company is a qualifying entity under FRS 102 and therefore exempt from the disclosure requirements of

sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of basic and other financial instruments respectively.

19. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

Deferred tax

Deferred tax primarily relates to timing differences on acquired intangible assets and reverses proportionately
in ine with the amortisation profile of the asset and the expected corporation tax rates.

Intangible Accelerated Losses Total
Group 2021 assets capital
allowances
_ £'000 £'000 _£'000 £'000
1 January (restated) 36,989 109 - 36,088
Credit in year (2:452) {109) {4 642) {7,203)
Cn acquisition 3.701 - - 3,701
Adjustments in respect of prior years (30) - - {30)
Change in tax rate 8,052 - 8,052
_Foreign Exchange 157 - - 187
31 December 45417 - (4,642) 40,775
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19. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES (continued)}

Deferred tax assets are presented net of related liabilities where they are in relation 1o the same tax
authority/country, relate the same tax grouping and are expected to be settled or recovered net. To the extent
these conditions are not met, the asset of £3,314,000 (2020: £Nil) is presented within Debtors: Amounts due
in more than one year.

Intangible Accelerated Losses Total
Group 2020 assets capital
(restated) allowances
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
1 January 32,944 20 - 32,984
On acquisition 2410 - - 2410
Credit in year (2,898} (30) - (2,928)
Adjustments in respect of prior years - 119 - 119
Change in tax rate 3533 - - 3,533
_Foreign Exchange .- - - -
31 December 35,989 109 - 36,088
20. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL
Group and company
Called Up Share Capital 2021 2021 2020 2020
No: £ No: £
Amounts presented in equity:
Ordinary Shares of £0.01 192,235,630 1,922,356 192,235.630 1,922,356

On 28 November 2018, 100 £0.01 Ordinary shares were issued for cash at par. On 19 December 2018,
192,235,530 £0.01 Ordinary shares were issued at a premium of £0.99 each resulting in a share premium
account of £190,313,175.

Share rights

Voting - Shares rank equally for voting purposes. Each member shall have one vole and on a poll each
member shall have one vole per share held.

Dividends - Each share ranks equally for any dividend declared.

Distribution rights on a winding up - Each share ranks equally for any distribution made on a winding up.

21. RESERVES

Share premium account —~ The reserve records the amount above the nominal value received for shares sold,
less transaction costs. The total share premium account amounted to £190,313,000 (2020: £190,313,000).

Translation reserve ~ comprises all foreign exchange differences arising on translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations into the reporting currency of the Group.

Accumulated Iosses ~ This reserve records retained eamings and accumulated losses.
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22, BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Dunng the current and prior year the Group made a number of investments in relation to the acquisition of
established exhibitions and exhibition businesses to expand the market share and geography of the Group’s
activities.

The following tables summarise the details of the acquisitions, the consideration paid or payable by the Group
and the provisional fair values of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and the non-controlling interests at the
acquisition date.

The adjustments relate to the fair value adjustments of identified intangible assets acquired as part of the
acquisition and the associaled deferred tax liabilities. Intangible fair value adjustments are spiit between
marketing related and customer related intangible assets, representing intangible assets which can be
separately identified on acquisition. Marketing related intangible assets are defined as those assets which are
primarily used in the markefing or promotion of services. Customer related intangible assets may consist of
customer lists, order backlogs, customer contracts and refationships, and non-contractual customer
relationships.

Year ended 31 December 2021
influence Group, LLC

On 30 December 2021 the Group acquired control of Influence Group, LLC through a purchase of 60% of
the equity share capital for total consideration of £7,97 1,000.

Influence Group, LLC runs hosted buyer events focused on connecting construction and facilities management
companies with buyers from the hospitality, education and health sectors in the USA. This is complementary
to the Group's existing business streams Because of the date of the acquisition, there is no material impact
to the Group's Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Consideration at 30 December 2021: £'000
Cash 7.448
Directly atiributable costs 5§23
Total consideration 7,971
For cash flow disclosure purposes the amounts are disclosed as follows: £'000
Cash consideration 7.448
Directly attributable costs paid in year 265

7,713
Less’ cash and cash equivalents acquired (1,401}
Net cash outflow 6,312
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22. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Influence Group, LLC

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Book values Adjustments Falr value

. £000 £'000 e £'000

Intangible assets - 12,460 12,460
Tangible assets 54 (54) -
Trade and other receivables asz2 {76) 306
Cash and cash equivalents 1,401 - 1,401
Trade and other payables (741) (230) ©71)
Deferred tax liabilities - (3,701) (3.701)
Total identifiable net assets 1,096 8,399 9.495
Non-controlling interest (3.798)
Goodwil) 2,274
Total consideration 7,971

Also on 30 December 2021 a put/call aption was established to permit the Group to acquire the remaining
40% of the equity share capital it does not currently own. The puticall option permits the sale/purchase of
equily in two tranches of 20% during a specified period in 2024 and 20286, or earlier under certain defined
circumstances. In accordance with the substance of the transaction and the Group's accounting policy, a
liability for £7,623,000, being the estimated discounted value, was established and included in Creditors:

amounts falling due after more than one year (note 17}

The adjustments relate to the provisional fair values of identified intangible assets acquired, adjustments to
trading balances to align to the Group's accounting policies and associated deferred tax liabilities. The
intangibles fair value adjustment relates to marketing related intangible assets which can be separately
identified on acquisition. The goodwill arising on acquisition is allocated in full to the Altermnative Formats CGU.

Year ended 31 December 2020

Spring Messe Management GmbH

On 16 January 2020, the group acquired control of Spring Messe Management GmbH through the purchase
of 100% of the share capital for total consideration of £11,478k. Spring Messe organises the Corporate Health
Convention, Zukunft Personal Europe, Zukunft Personal North and Zukunft Personal Sid events. This
acquisition expands the Group’s German operations which already include veterinary, corporate learing and

development and technology event brands.

Considgration at 16 January 2020: £'000
Cash 10,33
Directly attributable costs 1,147
Total consideration 11,478
For cash flow disclosure purposes the amounts are disclosed as follows: £000
Cash consideration 11,478
Less. cash and cash equivalents acquired (143)
Net cash outflow 11,335
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22. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Book Adjustments Fair value

£'000 £'000 £000

intangibles 4 6,147 6.151
Property, plant and equipment 490 - 480
Trade and other receivables 701 - 701
Cash and cash equivalenis 143 - 143
Trade and other payables {1.482) {1,482)
Bank loans - - -
Deferred tax liabilities (1,845) (1,845)
Total identifiable net (liahilities)/assets {144) 4,302 4,158
Non - controlling interest -
Goodwill 7.320
Total consideration 11,478

London Dentistry Show

Cn 21 December 2020, the Group acquired the business and assets on the London Dentistry Show from

Finlayson Media Limited for total estimated consideration of £577,000.

_Consideration at 21 December 2020: £'000
Cash 60
Deferred and contingent consideration 451

_Directly atiributable costs 66
Total consideration 577
For cash ftow disclosure purposes the amounts are disclosed as follows: £'000
Cash consideration 6t
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired -
Net cash outflow 61
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Book Adjustment Fair value

£'000 £000 £'000
Intangibies - 3299 3,209
Property, ptant and equipment - - -
Trade and other receivables -
Cash and cash equivalents -
Trade and other payables . -
Bank loans - - -
Deferred tax liabilities (565} (565)
Total identiflable net assets - 2,734 2,734
Non - controlling interest -
Goodwill (1,800}
Deferred consideration . ___(357)
Total congideration 577
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22. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
Consideration payments on acquisitions

London Dentistry Show

During the year ended 31 December 2021 payments of £180.000 under the pre-set deferred consideration
arrangsments were made A further payment of £355,000 in respect of contingent consideration was made
1 April 2022,

Healthcare Publishing & Events Limited
During the year ended 31 December 2021 a payment of £236,000 was made in accordance with the
purchase agreement dated 6 September 2019.

Interalia, Ferlas Profesionales y Congresos, S.A.

The purchase agreement dated 18 October 2019 included the deferral of €400,000 of consideration,
contingent on the final and binding renewal of the venue in which the event is held. This condition has been
achieved and accordingly a payment of €400,000 will be mada in the year ended 31 December 2022.

23. COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES

The total future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-canceliable operating leases for each of the
following periods are as follows:

Group  Company Group Company

2021 2021 2020 2020

. £'000 £000  £000 £'000
Within one year 1,038 - 808 -
Within one and five years 1,481 - 1,758 -
after five years 268 - 498 -
2,787 - 3,064 -

The operating leases predominantly relate to properties in the UK, US, Singapore, Hong Kong, France, and
Spain.

24. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had capital commitments of £219.000 in respect of office moves and
refurbishments (2020: £862,000 in respect of an ERP system).

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Group/Company and its related parties are disclosed below:

2021 2020

o £'000 £'000

Costs recharged by Group companies 972 3.185
Costs recharged to Group companies 1,925 4,996
Amounts owed by related parties at year end 3,434 30,276
Amounts owed to related parties at year end 8,152 25,797

Transactions comprised recharges for staff salaries, expenses and Group management charges
Transactions between 100% owned subsidianes are exempt from disclosure.
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25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company's majority shareholder is Providence Equity Partners (note 26). During the year expenses of
£62,234 were paid by the Group to Providence Equity Partners (2020: £Nil). No amounts were ocutstanding
at the year end (2020: £Nil).

FocusZone Mediag, Inc.

On 9 December 2021 the Group acquired the remaining 20% of the issued share capital in FocusZone
Media, Inc- that it did not already own for an agreed purchase price of £1,411,000. Atthe time of the
purchase the carrying amount of the non-controlling interest was £610,000. The excess between the
adjustment o the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the consideration paid of £801,000 has been
recognised In equity and attributed 1o the equity holders of the Group.

DE France Limited

On 25 May 2021 the previous shareholder agreement for the acquisition of the remaining 15% shareholding
in DE France Limited was ferminated and the shares not already owned by the Group were transferred for
Nil consideration, At the time of the purchase the carrying amount of the non-controlling interest was
(£80,000). The excess between the adjustment to the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the
consideration paid of £80,000 has been recognised in equity and attributed to the equity holders of the
Group.

26. ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

The Group is owned by Providence Equity Parners (who own a controlling 65% stake} and by the
management team and certain employees who retain the remaining equity.

The ultimate parent underiaking and ultimate controlling party is Providence Equity Partners VIII L.P. (Cayman
Islands), which is one of the holding companies for Providence Fund Vil

The parent undertaking in the UK is CloserStill Group Limited. The consolidated financial statements of
CloserStill Group Limited are the largest group in which the Company was consolidated for the year ended 31
December 2021. Capies of the consolidated financial statements are publicly available from Companies
House, Crown Way, Cardiff, CF14 3UZ.

27. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There were no events after the balance sheet date.
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28. RECONCILIATION OF MANAGEMENT EBITDA

Management EBITDA* as presented in the strategic report can be reconciled to operating loss as
follows:

2020

2021 (restated)

£'000 £'000

Continuing operating loss (61,455) (45.677)
Amortisation 33,323 32,245
Depreciation 679 751
Exceptional items 23137 5210
Management exceptional items 780 1,041
Foreign exchange 16 422
Share based payments 988 945
Management EBITDA* (2,532) (5,062)

Management exceptional items refiect items which individually or, if of a similar type, in aggregate, are
disclosed separately due to their size or incidence in order to obtain clear and consistent presentation
of the Group's performance. Significant management exceptional costs during the year inciude one off
costs refating to: business development costs in reviewing leads for new launches and potential
acquisitions, i.e. costs that do not relate to the running of current year shows.

* Management EBITDA is a non-GAAP measurs used to monrior the performance of the business and is defined as operating
profit before depraciation, amortisation exceplional and mansgoment exceptional iterns and accounting for foreign exchange
And non-cash share-based payments charges o employees.



